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wan{ to mabie the fol|owiog statement under aath:

g statement about things that I have participated in or witnessed while ] have
been stationed at Abu Ghraib correctional facility. Sometime about the end of Oct 03, I was on generated
detail and F‘ne by and asked me to come down to the hard site with him. He said that they had
some new detainees come i, and wanted me to come bulishit with him. We got to where the detainees were
a1 a holding cell, and | asked he wanted me to escort one of them to the tier and he said go
ahead. So | ook one of the detainees down to the tier. After we got to the tier, they put the detainees in a pile
on the floor. The detainees were tossed in the middle of the floor together. That is whchw
across the room and lunged in the air and landed in the middle of where the detainees were, i believe This is
when | come in and “get him some™. Meaning to come in and be apart

of whatever was going to happen. I believ an across the room 8 1otal of two times and landed in the
middle of the pile of detainees. A couilc of the detainees kind of made an AH sound as if this hurt them ot

caused them some type of pain when would land on them. Aﬁeri_‘md done thiggl en
stumped on either the Tingers or toes 5{' the dttainees. When he stumped the detainees they were in pain,
because the detaines would scream loudly. 1 know this happened to at lcast one detaince; maybe it was.a
|second one as well, 1know afich ad done thus, d him that was enough, an.
siopped, and thal was whe g ad the detaince's strip.
as the one who em to strip in Arabi language. During this whéle time the detainees had
sandbags over their heads. The detainees did not want ta take their civilian clothes or jurnpsuits off, and were
hesitant to strip There may have been one or two that had a jumpsuit on/
would take one of the delzinees aside, tell them 10 strip, and they would strip. After the detainee was stripped,
' ould put a sandbag over the head of the detainee, and he would have the detainee sit down. At
one pornt afier a couple of the detainees were stripped, and | do not know what provoke t
nelt down 10 one of the detainees that was nude and had the sandbag over his hea
put the detainees head into a cradie position wiLr\Prm, and unched the detainee with
a lot of force, in the lcmplcﬁunchcd e detainee with a closed fist so hard in the 1emple that it
knocked the detainee unconscious. I walked over 1o see if the detainee was still alive, | could tell that the
detainee was unconscibus, because his eyves were closed and ke was not moving, but 1 could see his chest nise

and fall, so 1 knew he was still alive. ”cckcd on him as well once or twice 1o make sure he was
stilt alive as well. 1 do not recall

msay‘mg anythung. 1do remembcr[—ying. “Damn that
hun”, referning tuFlur ing his hand when he punched the detainee. After abdt two minutes the
detsinee moved for the first time, like he was coming to. Afier d done this he went over to the
pile of detainees thal were still clothed and he put his knees on them andfad his picture taken. 1 1ook this
photo. oul this point struck one of the detainess in the chest with & closed fist. “The
detainee was standing in front of"\-.nd for no rcasoPunchcd the detainee in the
chest. The detainee took a real deep breath an? kind of squatted cown. The d€fainee said he could not breath.
They celled for 2 medic 1o come down, o try and get the detainee to breath night. M aid he
shaunht b oy dbe detaipea i cardic amect L atooariedin chou the dotginee hogirin bre: '
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PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

AUTHORITY: Title 10 USC Section 301; Title 5 USC Secrien 2951 E.D. 9397 daved Novembar 22, 1343 /S5EN)

PRINCIPAL PURPOSE:  To provide commanders angd inw snlocement DITiCials with means by which nformanon may be accuidtey identihea
ROUTINE USES: Yot soCHal secufiTy number is used as an adg tional/aliternate means of igentilication to 1sci! tare lilng engd 1atreval
DISCLOSURAE: Disciosure of your scciad secunty numbar is voluntary

1. LOCATION 2. DATE {YYYYMMDD! } 3. TiME 4. FILE NUMBER

Viclory Base, Irag, APO AE 05342 2004/Q211 f 1800

B T — —

£, MIDDLE NAME N T R 7. GRADE/STATUS

. N OR ADDRESS
HHD, 205th Military Intelligence Brigade, APO AE 05096

— WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT URDER OATH

I was inservicewed by Major General Taguba, an AR |5-6 [nvesugating Officer from CFLCC, on ¢ February 2004 concerning
detawpee operations at CJTF-7 and aliegations of detainee abuse at Forward Operating Base (FOB) Abu Ghraib. The purpose ¢f
this statement 43 (10 provide a writien record of thal conversation by hightighting and amplifying key areas of discussicn including
cowunand and control, the nature of dewinee operations, and the relationship between intelligence and military police at the FOB.
As a cavear, the instances of dewinee abuse under isvestigation occurred before | assumed command of the FOB. This statement
must be understood from that perspective.

&, LAST NA

Commaand and Control at the FOB was a cornplex imemninghing of four distinet essential @sks under the command of two separate
brigades. the 205th Military Intelligeace Brigade and the 800th Military Police Brigade. These essential tatks included: dewention
operations and monitoring, the condusl of operatonal and siaiegic imerrogations of key coalition detainees, providing assislance
to the Iraq Burcau of Prisons in cstablishing and runoing 2 maximpum securiy prison, and cnhancing force protecnon for e
approximalely 1000 service members and civilians assigned to Abu Ghraib. Deziled information about the fnrward cperaling
base and is tenant unus is provided in the attached bricliog {enclosure 1). o light of mortar atacks where both soldiers and
detaynees were killed, the FOB bad tactical control (TACON) of forces limited 1o (wo specified 1asks: force proteciion and
detawnee secunity (enclosure 2}, The 320th Military Pobice {MP) Battalion (Bn) was charged with executing detention operations
at the FOB. Thus tacluded assignment of detainecs to snterument camps. the establishment of standards for imernmen: faciliies,
the training and regulation of guards. ransporadion of detawees throughoul the theater, and the establishment of poiicy and
procedure reiative to resettlement operations. Likewise, they had the respoasibility for reporung of detainess through the
National Detainee Reporting System (NDRS) and the forward of Serous [ncident Reports (STR) concerning detamees. The
CITF-7 Swaff Judge Advocale Magisirare's Cell waz charped wilh develOpIng Systerns to review the swarus of detainess, easure
they were given appropriate hearings, Article 78 appeals, and status reviews. The CITF-7 SJA had the lead in facilialing visit
Dy the lniemnational Commiltes of the Red Cross {{CRC. The Jownt Interrogation and Debniefing Cenier (JIDC) through the
205th MI Bde, was charged with caccuting interrogauons at the FOB. The Commander, CITF-7 set forth the operamg
parameters of the JIDC (enciosure 3). Prioritization of mterrogations was determined by the Interrogation Vurgeting Board and
sent directly to the JIDC by 205th MI Bde.

In a very real sense, everyone working 31 Abu Ghraib 13 involved in “detainee operations.” Abu Ghraib, alsu known by MPs a.
the Baghdad Ceatral Correcugpa Facility (BCCF), curecnily holds over 650U detawnees. Over 5500 of these are i durect U.S
custody. Jusi over 1500 of these are of intelligence wierest 1o the coahwon. The FOB exists 1o house these detainees and
facilitate imerrogations. There are three basic components of “detamnee operations™ that inctude deteption, inlerrogation, and
reiease. Staff supervision of these functions is provided by the Provost Marshal, the C2 and the Staff Judge Advocalc
respecuvely. Unfortunately, this split responsibiliy for detanee operations wereased the pressure at jower levels and blurred
fines of responsibilisy.  Although command of the FOB provided me knowtedge of all aspeets and limited snput, as 13°d ow in the
discussion on comumand and conatrol, policy and task execution was conducted along functional lines through funcliond)
commands. As a result almost all of my experience in detainee operations coemnes from the nterrogation perspective. The details
of this perspective are provided below.

Policies and procedurss estabiished by the JIDC relauve 1o dewinee operationy were enacied as the result of a visil by MG
Geoffrey Millcr, the cornmander of Joint Task Force Guantanamo Bay. During s visit General Miller focused on four key
artas: ntelligence inicgration, synchronization and fusion; analysis: mterrogation; and detention operilions. During his visit he
rendered a written report, which s provided in this s@atement {eociosure 4). | bave also provided his in-briel (enclosure 5), his
oul-brizl (enclosure 6) and a draft update for the Secretary of Defense (enclosure 7). The key findings of his visi were thal the
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. STATEMENT (Contnued) . . . . .
interrogators and analysis, develop a set of rules and kumitations (o guide \nferrogations, and provide dedicated MPs o suppurt of

inicrrogations. As a result of his visit the task force formed 2 JIDC, The requirements for manning were laid but in 2 request for
forces (RFF) and a joint manning document (JMD). All recommendations were unplemented with the exception of dedicated MP

support.

The basic rules for intermogation operations are contained in Amy Regulation 34-52, Interrogaiion Operaticas. The standards for
the conduct of ipterogations are outhined in C!TF7-CG Memorandum dated 5 Octaber 2003, Subject: CITF-7 lnserrogation and

Counter-Resistance Policy (refer o enclosure 3) that were staffed with United States Central Command. These rules arovide the

left and right limits for interrogators.

Drspite the articidation of clear rules, there were two violations of these standards that were brought 10 my antention prior 1o my
assumpuon of command of the FOB and the incident thal precipitated this invesugation. The first of these was reponed to me by
the MPs in zarly Ociober. The incident wnvoived two [emale detanees and three mpale interrogators. The three soldiers accused
of detainee abuse were removed from their intersogation positions and | asked CID 10 invesugate because of the potenual
exaplosive gature of the incident. The investigation was unable o show beyond 2 reasonable doubt that delainee abuse occurred
However. i did shuw thai these inlcrrogators (aited to foliow esiablished procedures for wicrrogation. consttuung derelicuon of
duty. Each of the dhree soldicrs involved was given pupishunent under Article 15 of the Uniform Code of Miliary Justice
(cnclosure 8}, Punishment was | c second nstance involved a female interrogator. |1 was repocied 1o me try
the then JIDC Deputy Director the specifics of this incident but the interrogator was removed
from her position as an interrogatar and remanded tmr additional traiming. Long afier the fact, | was made aware
of some addwonal alieganons of abuse 10 an [CRC report (enclosute 9). These allegations track closely with some of the .
allcgations broyght 10 my attention by CID in January

After the first alicgations of abuse, the leadership ai e 11DC decided 1o implement a more aggressive policy of cnsuring that

their personnel were aware of al) the limiations surroundung nterrogation operahions. Al soldiers who conduct LnLerroganons are

required o 5.gn a memerandum that they understand the rules and agree 1o abide by them. A blank copy of the agreement 1s
provided (enclosure 10). Additonally. prior to staning work at the interrogation facility each person assigned undergoes traming
to familianze them with the faciiity and operations at Abu Ghrasb. This training is conducted by the section leader. A copy of

the training stides is provided as well (enclosure 1), Finally. to bave a reminder of the interrogation rules of cngagetnent (IROE)

as weil as other imponant information the JIDC creatcd 2 wall with 2 blow up of the IROE and applicabie nicmorandums signed

by LTG Sanchez, Ewvery person entering the JIDC passes by these ttems as they enter and lcave the JIDC faciluy. Pictuses of the

wall are provided (enclosure 12).

The complex and sometimes confusing command and control infierent o detames operations makes the inter-relanonshipt among
Olganizations cxiremely tmporan! and contenfious. Despite a genuibe commitment on the part of seniors at brigade-tevel 10 make
the relationship work, there were several areas of friction between 320th MP Bn and the JIIDC. There were significant
differences in Standards between the two units in rmajor areas, such as allowing local nationals ta live 1o the tillewt, umiorm
standards, and the saluting policy.

In conclusion, in response 102 request of the tovesugaung officer,] would make two rccommendations as a esult of my
experience and the incidents that occurred. First, cnsure that MPs supporting the interrogation mission are attached to the JIDC
50 they can be betier scositized to the rules of inlerrogations 204 provide additional vajuc added 1o the interrogaton process
Second. if the desire of the task force is 1o put dedainee operations uncer the purview of one commander at Abu Chraib, that
EOMMARACT MUSL have iraning :n detention operations. interrogation operations, and delainee release procecures. The command
relationship between the FOB commander and subotamate wnits should be OPCON., tie officer should not have additionai
command responsibilities and the level af responsibility probably necessitates 3 General Officer. NOTHING FOLLOWS /it
R e O I
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9. STATEMENT ([Continued]
NOTHING FOLLOWS

AFFIDAVIT
1, . HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD RCAD TO ME THS STATEMENT
WHICH N5 O PAGE 1. AND ENCS ON PAGE S . FFULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE

8Y ME. THE STATEMENT t5 TRUE. | HAVE IMITIALED AL, CORRECTIONS AND HAYE INITIALED THE BUTTOM CF EACH PASE
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT, | HAVE MADE TH'S STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD WITHCOUT
THREAT OF PUKISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERCQON, UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE AR UNLAWFUL tNOUCEMENT,
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1. LOCATION 2. DATE (ryYYrmmop) 3. TIME 4. FILE NUMBER

Victory Base, lruy, APO AE 09342 2004702711 1800

2 ME, MIDDLE NAME 8. SSN T3 GRADESSTATUS
B CRGANMZIATION DA DAESS

HHD, 2054 Military limelhgence Brigade, APO AE 09096

3 .
— WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

t was imerviewed by Major General Taguba, an AR 15-6 lavestigating Officer frota CFLCC, on 9 February 2004 concerning
detaince vperauons al CITF-7 and aliegauons of detaines abyse al Forward Operating Base (FOB) Abu Ghraib. The purpose of
this shateinient 18 to provide a written record of thar conversation by bighlighting and amplifying key areas of discussion wncluding
coirumand and control. the nature of dewinee operauons, and the relalionshtp between inteliigence and military police at the FOB.
AS a raveat. the mstances ol detainee abuse under investigauon occurred before 1 assumed command of (he FOB. This statement
must be undersiood rom that perspective,

Comiuand and Control 2t the FOB was a complex wtermingling of four distinet essential tasks under the command of two scparate
brigaoes. the 2U5th Mulitary lntelligence Brigade and the 300t Military Police Brigade. These essenuial tasks included: detenton
operauons znd mogitoning. the conduct of operational and strategic interrogauons of key coalition detainees, providing assistance
to the Irag Bureau of Prisons in establishung and running 1 maxinum secunty prison, and cnhancing force protection for the
approumatety 1000 service members and civilians assigoed to Abu Ghraib. Dewiled information about the forward operaling
base and iis tenanl umis 15 provided in the atiached boefling (enclosure 1), Ip light of morar auacks where both soldicrs asd
“cawness were kalled, the FOB had tactjcal control ) of forces limjied to two speci sks: force proteciion g
“ninee security {enclsure 2T, Thc-ﬂlﬁTmmery alice (MP) Batialion (Bn) was Sharged with ex ERTIOn Gperatons
e FOB Thus included assigament of detainees to internment camps, the establishment of standards {or internment facilitics,
e traming and regulation of guards, (ranspontation of detainees throughout the theater, and the establishment of poticy and
procraure relatve to resetement operations. Likewsse, they bad the responsibility for reporung of detainees through the
Natocal Detainee Reporting System (NDRS) and the forward of Serious Inciden Reports (SIR) concerning detaipees. The
CITF.7 Staff Judee Advucue Magigirate's Cell was charged with developing systems to review the staws of detainees, ensure
thty were given appropriate hearings, Article 78 appeals, and siamus reviews. The S JTF-7 SJA had the_lead i facilitating visils
2y the Imermauonal Conunitee of the Red Cross (ICRC), The Jount Interrogation and LJebrie ing Center []!DC) through the:
pérating -

203th M1 Bde. was chargea with execuling interf@Eations at the FOB. The Commaader, CITF-7 st forth the o

paramecrs of ine HDC en:losure 3). Prig?ITENOA o intcrTogations was dEiermined by the interrogation Targeting Boargd and

senl Gy W e Ty 205t B Bler—mm———————— —————
- T —

Inz wery real sease. evervene working al Abu Ghraib is involved in "detainee operations.” Abu Ghraib, also knewn by MPs as
tuz Bughdad Cenirl Coriectional Facilisy (BCCF), cutrently holds over 6500 detainces. Over S500 of these are in direet U.$
custody  Just nver {300 0f these are of titelligence interegt (o the coaliion. The FOB exists (0 house these definees: and

facil haw eqmgaBns,  There are lhr:ruﬁléﬁm‘;ﬁn‘x? of "detanee operations” that include detention, intcrrogation, and
rebeise S <upervisn of these functions is provided by the Provosi Magshal, the C2 and the Staff Judge Advocate
vepevinely  Unleduitely, this splicresponsibitity for detainee operaitons increascd the pressure at lower levels and blured

binex ol sgsponse TFO0E and of the FOB prévide [LE input, as in the
JRcsaea mi conumand and conernl, policy and 1ask egecution was conducted alone {unclignal lines through funclional
comniaks. As sl ainwst all of M EXperie Ince opefations comes trom the anterragalion perSpective. The details
TR TRTSpecLve are provided BETOW., . e

Polk ol gy ey sy 2xiblished by the JIDC refauve 1o detainee operations werz enecged as the res
0les Maleg} e confTandSr of Jone Task Foree Guantanamo Bay- During his visulGenetar WIEr Jocused nn tous key
AT TeITe ™ ¢ antegranian. synchronization and fusion: analysis; (nterrogaiton: and detention operafions. During his visit he
reuderal a women tepart, which is provided in this staicmens {enclosure 4} | have also provided his in-brie{ (enclosure 5), fus
vut-Bhiel cenuhsez. 1 amd o draft update for the Secretary of Delense (enclosure 7). The key lindings of his visit were thai the
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9. STATEMENT (Cuntmusds o o . . )
intersugators und dnatysis, develop @ set of rules and limiations to guide inerrogationy, snd provide dedicated MPs 10 support of
3, As a resull remeats for WeT Tequest Jor

suppog.
The tasic rules tor interrogation epcralions ars contained in Amy Reguimion 34-32, Interrogation Operations. The siandards for

1 of intermgal iorandum dated $ Ocro 3, Subject: CITF.7 [lerrogancs and
Counier-RESi3ANCE Policy (refer w cnclosure 3) that were SITTE tales Ceniral Command. 1“_hes= rules provide the

lefl and right limig fassieforptRs ——

Despitc the anmiculation of Zlear rules. there were two viclatipns of these standards that were brought I my attention pripr to my
Eﬂm&n of .of | nd the incident that precipilated [bis investgation. The first of these was ed 10 me by
MPs i

cxplosive nature of the inc:demt. The investigation was unable 1o show beyond a reasonable doubt that detuinee abuse occurrad,
However, it did show that these interrogators faled 10 [ollow cstablished procedures for ineerrogation, constituting derelicion of
duty. Each of the Lhree oldiers imvolved was given punishment under Aniicle 15 of the Upiform Code of Military Justice

tenclosure 8). Punishment was imposed by me. The 1ec involved & female intc . It was reponed o me by
i ecall the specilics o meident bur the interrogator was removed

the then JIDC Deputy Dire
or additional training. Long after the I was made sware
(enclosure 9). These allzgatio y with some of the

from her posilion as an mterrogftor an

e
of some additional aitegations of abuse in an ICRC re
altegaucny brought to my ancation by CID in‘.lﬁ.ﬁ-i.m'rI

Afler 1 Uesga €. the leadership at the JIDC decided to smplement a mare appressive policy of ensuriag that

their personnel were aware of adl the timiations surroundiog micrrogalion operauons. All soldiers who conduct interrogations arc

required 1o Sign 4 mernorandum thal they uodersiand the rules angd agrez 10 abide by them. A blank copy of the agreement is
2vided (enclosure 10). Addidonally, prior 4o siarting work at the wtcrrogaton facilily cach person assigoed undergoes iraining
{amiliatize them with ihe facility and operauons a1t Abu Ghrar  This trainiog is conducted by the section leader. A copy of

tn= trzining slides is provided as well {cnclosure 11 Finally. to have 7 reminder of the interrogation rules of engagemen {IROE)
9s well as other imponant :nformarion the J Ted 3 wall with ) biow up of the IROE an i =
by LIG Sinchez. Ev i xg (o y enter and leave the JIDC facilily. Pictures of the

wall are provided (énclosure 1 2).

SO coptusine comgpund and control pinerept o detgines © ralions makes the inters

ATganitanans exfremely unpontant and conienligus. Despile 3 LeNLINC CUTIDINTE Of Of seruors s brigade-level to make
UNE TSP WOTK, (hen: Were feveral areas of fnctmn b twren 320w MP Ba and the JIDC.  Therz were significant
differnces tn siundards hetween the two units s mayor areas, such a allowing iocal sattonals to live in the billcls, unifom
standards. and the saluung policy

lnvonzlusion. u response o a request of the invesugauing officer.l would make two recommendations as a r2sult of my .
cxperience and the incidents thal oeeurred. Firs, casure that-MPs supporting the inlertogation mission arc atsached to the JIDC
50 they cau be bener semsitized 40 the ruies of interrogations and provide addiriona! value sdded 1o the inerrogation process.
Second. if the desire of tie sk force is to put detsinee operations wder the pueview of one comenander &t Abv Ghrasb, @l
commander MUs! have (Euiuny in dECINION Operations, wierrogation operauons, snd detainee release procedures. The command
relalioaship between the FOB comumander and subordinate uniits should be OPCON, the officer should not have additional

wammiand responsibilines and the tevel of responsibilily probably ncecssnates a General Officer. WOTHING FOLLOWS i
N I Y ey L Y e it
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Jorces ,FFF) Ml a joint manning document (JMD). Al recommendations were implemented “wﬂw ‘%

“Eirly Octaber —The incident involved two femaic grtainees and three male inlerro ators, The three eoldiers accused
of dewiner abuse were r:mu\mwmﬂmﬁmmlﬁﬁcm of (he potential Wb
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Y, STATEMENY  Corditue )
NOTHING FON LOWS —-mr——e———m e .

i ' AFFIDAVIT ‘
i g_—__ HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT
WHIC NS ON PAGE 1. AND ENDS ON PAGE__Z . | FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE

8Y ME THE STATEMENT iS TRUE. | HAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INITIALED THE BOYTOM OF EACH PAGE
CONLAIMING THE STA " EMENT, | HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD, WITHOUT
THREST OF PUNISHMENT alND WITHOUT CDERCION, UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE. D ’
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) ]
m : , WART 10 MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT LINOER DATH:

On 1 July 2003, | assumed co 1 BDE in Balad, 'raq. My rater was MG WOJDOWKOSKI, Deputy Cdr,
CITF-7 :nd my senior Talct Wi 1 submmed an OER Suppost form to MG WOIDOWKOSKI withun the firsi
onc to iwo weeks, | do recall di support form but | can't remember speeifically what we disciissed. A copy of
the support form is provided at enclosure 1. As the time | 1ook command, there were eight batlalions under my command. Under
previcus agreements made pre-daling my 2rrival, 1 did not raiz any commander oot organic to the brigade with the exception of
the reserve component bantalion commanders. )
Batialions subosdinate 1o my headquarters were located as follows: the 165th, the 2234, the J241h, and the 325th in Balad; the
3024 was located it the Palace on Camp Victory working for V Corps and CITF-T; the 323d resided a1 Baghdad Inernational
Airport; the 519th was locited at Camp Speicher, near Tiknt; and the 151 MI Bn remained in Wiesbaden. Some elements of the
brigade were located at Carop Bucca as well. The mission of the brigade was o condust inielligeace and electrorac wartare
" operations in support of V Co?s and CITF.7. The Brgade had numerous irelligence collection activities ongoing in suppoit of
this mission. There were UAY operations at two different locations, Balad and al Assad Airbases. The Brigade had an aerial .
SIGINT mission ongoing with Guardrail. The CITF-7 bad the Prophet Hammer organic to the divisions. Upgrades were ongoing
with Guardrail as well. The Brigade's focus was primanly on HUMINT. There were 48 Tactical HUMINT Teams dispersed
throughout Irag. The Brigade was also heavily involved wili the Mujhadeen E (MEK) mission. The focus with MEK was
maintaining surveillance and conducting initial screeungs. CENTCOM and the CITE-7 wanied 10 register them with the
Biometric data systems in order to identify whom the terrorists were. The MEK mitsion proved more challenging than expected
because of arrangements made during the initial phases of combat operalions, A a resull, only the biomeiric screerung bad been
accomplished when the Brigade deparied theater in February 2004, The 205tk M1 Bde oo longer had orgamc imerrogaton assels,
because they had been eliminated from the MTO&E somenme bevween 1993 and 1995, However, there were three battalions task
orgatuzed to the brigade with injerTogation capability. The Bngade's wnterrogation operstions were initially conducied st Carmp
Bucca, Camp Cropper, and Camp Ashraft. Approumately two of three weeks (mid 1o late July) afer | took command, BG
HAHN durected me 1o provide LTG SANCHEZ 5 bnefing on how the Brigade conducied interrogation operations from the Jowesi
10 highest levels. . LTG SANCHEZ was not satisfied that the CJTF-7 was geming information from interrogations whith could be
rumed into Actiorable Intelligence. . Represea@tives from the 325t Mi Ba, the 319th M} Bn and | briefed LTG SANCHEZ as
well as representatives from the Military Police and CJ2 on the process that was in place at that time. | LTG SANCHEZ expressed
concern over the sysiem in place for conducting interrogations and exploitiog information derived from them. Durieg the brisfing
that LTG SANCHEZ directed the Brigads 1o establish an interrogation site to exploit actionable intelligence from a hit of “

approximately 3000 to 6000 Saddam Fedayeen members thar bad been provided w the CITF-7 from 151 Armored Division. At the
briefing all parties decided 10 conduct this operation at Abu Ghraib that faciliry offered some segregation capsbility, an appropriate
guard ferce and the ability 16 house large numbers of gewinets. This was despite the inherent dangers of Abu Ghraib u\\m

g, in the Sunni Triangle. I directed the 519th MI Bn o establis operati ing the sinuation wit

the Banalion Commander. We conducied a site reconnaissance laid out a general plan 1o

ano@. My first impression of Abu Ghraib was “holy mackere]l =  Not onl decrepil prison, bul there were

significans force proteciion concerns and an appaen lack of standards being enforced by the supporting Military Police.

Eipccially roubling was the Jack of uniform standards inclyding seldiers walking around the prison in civilian clotbes. 1 approved

the plan laid ouwt for me by o conduct U Saddam Fedayeen inuerrogations. | never spoke 10 MP personnel on the

ground regarding the conduct of the specific operation or 1be matier of siandards. 1 left on-site coordination to the 519th M1 Ba.

tbe igilial phases of the operation the 519th Icfi a field grade officer on sitc. but eventaally Ich the mission in the hands of

expesierced interrogator. The operauon was not as successful as had been hoped. The CITF did not get the

n t ol Fedayeen members that the list indicated would be caprured and the through C2 channels the Brigade was informed that

LTG SANCHEZ was not happy with the quality of reporung.  This viewpoint \mid when LTG SANCHEZ direcicd (hat
ATPRENT

1 provide him an updaic on interrogation cperations toward the £nd of Sepiembe
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ﬂ::ﬂ:l 53, - and | went to the CG's office on a Sunday o lay out what we had collecied
ing the

s thought was peeded 1o improve the quality of imerrogations throughout my
areas of responsibitity. LTG SANCHEZ expressed dissatisfaction froes the information collecied, was dubious aboul some of the
suggestions made to improve inierrogations and directed that the Brigade link up with MG MILLER during his assessment visit w0
IRAQ 10 determine 2 way zhead for interrogation operations. MG MILLER conducicd kis assessrnent from 31 August o ¢
Sepiember 2003, The purposc of his visit was 1o discuss the abiliry of CITF.7 o rapidly exploil insernees for actionable
iniclligence. The ream focused on three aress: iniefligence synchronization, integration and fution; interrogalion operaliohs; and
detersion operations. Various members of the 1eam spent around 3-4 days at Abu Ghraib. The Brigade's ivolvement with the
leam was in regards Lo interrogation operations. MG MILLER spent time with BG KARPINSK'Y and her stff regarding .
derention operations.  As his team made recommendacions. | took notes and begln 10 conscrplaiz how 1o implement same of his lﬂ

recommendations. Essentially, the team's recommendation was far the CITF-7 1o cresie an (tervogation facility along the lines o
that which: MG MILLER was running st Guamanamo Bay Cuba. The decision was also made w0 cemtralize all \ _
operations at Abu Ghraib as a result.of MG MILLCR's visit. Ahbough the force prowection challenges of Abu Ghraib remained,
the face that segregation facilities offered an available guard force, the requisite real extaie (o establish inerrogation facilitics was
present, and CPA was fRunding construciion there led MG MILLER, MG FAST, COL BOLYZ, BG KARPINSKI and 1 1o suppon
the Aby Ghraib faciliry. Other facilities although corsibered were discarded because of their distance from Bagfilad or the lack of
adequate resources. 1 cannot recall any specific discussions of force protestion at Aby Ghraib during this me.  LTG SANCHEZ
uad the final decision. However, | don't know if he was given a decision bricl on Abu Ghraib by anyone in his saafl. On 1l
September, LTG SANCHELZ again called me 1o his officc and wanwd 10 know what my plan was for implemcnting the
recommendations of the MG MILLER report. It was at this time [ showed him some initial design configurations for 2 Joint
Inicrrogation and Debriefing Center. He asked me bow | was going 10 source that organization and | showed him my plan for
consolidating interrogalion facilitics and using psople from the Brigade. He wld me that filling these slots was not only the
| Brigade's problem, but 2 “national one® and dirctied rue 10 draft a request for forces (RFF) within 48 bours. Another key
" { development thal came out of the MG MILLER assessmem was the need to have specific wrinen guidance on inerrogation

licics and authorities. MG MILLER'S worked with the CJTF-7 legal 1eam on developing a F-7 Interrogation and
~ounter-Resistance Policy along the lines of the rules approved by the Department of Defetse for Guantanamo Bay. Prior 10 the
1drafiing of the Coumer-Resistance policy. as the MILLER assessmoent nowed, there was po wrinen guidance addressing
inierrogation policy and authority for the entire CITF. Infividual units used internal SOPs at each facility. At Abu Ghsaib that
was the SOP of the 519th MI Bno. I belicved their SOP was adequate from the lack of complaints about imerrogations, my
confidence in their commander their experience in Afghanistan. However, the SOP's uctical focus made it
inadequate for the conduct of operatio gic level inierrogatons that the Brigade was direcied 1o perforra. On 14
September, the CITF-7 S8JA published its first Inerrogation and Counter-resisiance policy signed by LTG SANCHEZ. This
policy was revised on 12 October because of ohjections from CENTCOM. Tbe 12 October policy eliminated se )
that were previously approved by LTG SANCHE2, The Interrogaucn Rules of Engagement {IROE) was a JIDC publithed poster
based on the 12 October policy creaied so soldiers and civilians working in the JIDC could have an easy to follow st of rules. It
was meant (o provide an unciassificd reminder that ethphasized approved approaches in sccordance with the 12 Ociober
couater-resistance policy. The IROE was never intended 10 be, nor was it in fact an approved CITF-7 policy on Lhe conduct of
interrogations. The legally binding document was the approved 12 October policy, To my knowledge, notung in the IROE
vielated the 12 October policy. Although thé Milier Team bad a broad mandate with regard to their assessment, visils to the
Brigade did not focus on care and well being of the detainees. Rather, they focused primarily on turning tbe resulls of
interrogations into actionable intelligence, Discussions on the well being of detainees were disenssed with BG KARPISNIK! and
the 800th MP BDE as part of the discussions on detenton operations. | know that MG MILLER spent time with her and units in
the 80ih.  BG KARPISKI had memtioned to me thal they had 8 very nasry discussion os his findings relative to detainee
operations and [ believe this included the welfare of detwinees. In my opinion, MG MILLER saw masy things that had io be done
to meet his mandatc; improvement (o inierTogation operations was one of them. [ believe that it war MG MILLER'S intention
ibat the person responsible for synchronizing would be located at the CITF-7 level, | also belisve there was pressure from the
Department of Delense 1o produce actionable intelligence from the thousapds of secunity internees the CITF-7 was captunng. |
bace my assessment on the discussions with the C2 staff that indicated a tremendous amoum of isterest in what we were receiving
as well as an ever increasing number of “high level™ visits 10 Abu Ghraid. The 205th was given the mission @ stand Up » joint
imerrogation and debriefing center as the result of the }1 September-meeting. Three critical tsks were wovolved: completing
work an the Request For Forces (RFF), traning, and e collapsing of three interrogation facilities into one at Abu Ghraib. The
Brigade finushed the RFF in concent with the C2 and C3 staff and scat the docwment oul within 72 hours.  Training was arranged
with Fort Huachuca and TF Guantanamo to begin m Ociober. GTMO would assist with implementing the Tiger Team concept
frore 5 Dctober through 3 December and Fort Huachuce sent a mobile traitung team for 21 days in eariy October 1o help 1rain
soldiers to conduct strategic level iniermogations. The movement of personnel 10 the JIDC was an ilerative process because of the
. need to close old facilitics and bring new assets, i faciticy that hed not been traditionally part of the
Brigade's tactical intelligence capabiity. Initially, as devignated a3 the senior M) Cfficer at Abu Ghraib.
We discusted his roles and responsibilities, though i had beco specific in his direction to me a1}
the |1 SEP mecting that we told him | needed 8 LTC 10 ron
operations at Abu Ghraib. 'orm tha missio

IHTIALS OF PERSON MAXING smm! : &
! PAGE . oF PAGES

PALGE 2. DA FORM 187). DEL 1983 . i v

AGOO0O0536

DOD 000624



~.|.m~\1+wup_jfw N xl_l“;_! DATE 29204/05/%f

... w.mmm my concept
for operations and intent on the evemng of = . A Mmonar :ntcnuptcd our

discussions. There was no doubt in my mind that the
Interrogation debricfing Ceater (JIDC) OIC. [ know
this because he sent an e-mait out which specified that
Chief and that he was the JIDC Operatj r. Other organizanon charts that]
reccived from the JIDC always as the person in charge at Abu Ghraib.
Commanders maintained their command authority over their soldiers assigned to their
units. The arrangement would be snm:x“ogom to an Analysis and Control

Element in today’s intelligence doctrine

';:til the middle of November when | went to Abu Ghraib on a t basis, | saw
m my guy nn the ground and | thow pretty clear on
sed ta do as well. Aficr I became efiEaged in day 1o day operations of
the JIDC an of the 165th Ml Bn ,came down to assist in
force protection and security, id take on more of a Jigison role. [ did not
rate him because he belonged to CITF-7 I assumed he was being rated by the C2
chain. This was a similar arrangement to that which was described carliet in this
statemnent for LTC-level commanders. | uld attend the daily mectings
with the MPs and the other tenant upits. [ was un impression that he was satisfied
with the way the MPs were running things on Tier 1A and in generally supporting the
interrogation mission. There were other things like relations with MPs in the LSA and
post security where theic were concerns. However, 1 was led to believe that he had most
of these issues under contro}

I

' also identified equipment shortfalls with the
"~ JIDC organization. The Brigade staff worked to fill these-nceds but as in trying to stand-

. up any operation wi y established MTOE, there were shortfalls. h
Jﬂﬁﬂwmﬂl information concerning soldiers showing up
without their personal equipment. | betieve that they ook corrective action on the
and the Brigade followed up with the Banalions of these soldiers. I do net recal

H:iscussing with me any issues

reiayed to him on equipment al

1 was not aware that

ralions- in fact | thought the €xact opposite to be the cas
would be in a better position to discuss answer your questions on this issue

itimately, the JIDC was to be Flled primarily from a Joint
based on the RFF that was developed as 2 resut
writing and filling the IMD.was bein

from the Brigade
7. CJTF-7 was responsibie for managing and filling this document. Although the JlDC
was technically a joint operation, most of the JMD remained unfilled throughout my. tour
in Iraq. Specific exceptions included some Air Force medical personnel and some Navy
personnel, but these arrived much later. The JIDC was essentially an Army run operatio
with soldiers and civilians. The decision to use civilians was made because the Brigad
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qd no more assets that it could provide o fill lhe slots. I was consulted concerning this
deeision and prov:ded favorable feedback. The Brigade S$3 and DCO worked with the
CITF-7 headquarters in developing specific requirements. | am unfamiliar with the
specifics of the contract and do not recall when the first contractors amived.  However, -

two requircments were to have a clearance and to have experience. I received positive
feedback on the contributions of the contractors &mﬁnq other members of
the JIDC. 1 was never given n to doubt their competency and no issucs were
brought to my anemibn‘m -

the first week of November, the CG paid a visit 1o Abu Ghraib and he was still not
happy with operafions. In private discussions with the CG and MG FAST I decided to
move 10 Abu Ghraib. My actual movement to Abu Ghraib was sometime in the middie
" of November. Closely following my movement MG Fast visited me and expressed

concerned about the level of force protection at the facility. She indicated that because [
was now the senior commander on the ground 1 might have lo take additional :
responsibility for the force protection mission. The 205th MI Bde was named Forward
Qperating Base commander on 19 November. -Although I didn’t ask for the job, [ did not
fight it because | realized that unless the Bripade assumed this role, things would never
get better. The 19 NOV FRAGO designating the Brigade with FOB command
responsibility gave TACON of the 320th MP Bn for force protection and security of
detainees as well. The FRAGO did not delineaie any responsibilities. My understanding
of this FRAGO was to protect all personnel from external threats. To me this meant that
the MPs would continue to ran confinement and security operations in the prison camps
and facilities, while the JIDC would continue to perform interrogations. 1 brought the
165th M! Bn to oversee base security operations, assist with the implemeniation of base
security policy, and provide forces to enhance perimeter security and conduct
reconnaissance and surveillance owmside the wally of Abu Ghraib. After the 19 NOV
FRAGO my discussions with (R Commander of the 320th MP Bn were
positive. He expressed the opinion that his unit would be able to focus their efforts on
confincment operations. This FRAGO did nothing to alter the mission of the MPs 1o
maintain contro} over all of the detention facilities located at Abu Ghraib, even those
where internees of intelligence value were housed. At some point, near the end of
November the MPs decided to stop escorting detainees between the CAMP VIGILANT,

CAMP GANCI interrogation facility. Military Intelligence took over this
funciion, re 10 ensure that a group of intelligence
soldiers were trained on escorung duties and to my knowledpe this was done to standard,

As a result of the 19 NOV FRAGO [ became more involved with base operations at Abu
Ghraib. As always, I relied on battalion commanders and the Brigade staff 1o assist in
daily operations of the Brigade .

‘ discussed earlier in this statement, the JIDC created and posted IROE on their bullctin
board. The IROE identified presence of working dogs and sleep management as
requiring CG approval. Howevet, the 1Z October Interrogation and Counter-Resistance
Policy General Safeguards (enclosure 2) allowed that dogs present at interrogations were
lo be muzzled and under the control of & handler. Likewise the Brigade Staff Judg
Advocate opined that slecp management could be permitied at the JIDC as long

(el
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winees were allowed adequate sleep. Adequate sleep was defined as “4 hours in 8 24
hour period” based on conversations wilh personnel fm:::n_G _Any steep
of less than 4 bours in 2 24 hour period would have reqw s ignanire.
We did submit requests concerming interrogations - I believe these were
mo uests for segregation of dewinees 1o £XCES3 0

: -lumslu:m':qbcr or speciﬁcnlg};uwhal they were.  The requests were at Abu -
Ghraib until January when they were maintained on softcopy .
would know where they were kepl. As for sleep managernent, t.he intefrogators
10 write down their plan and then give itto the MPs who would mainta:n and
implement it. Additionaily, these plans were 1o be monitored by our resident r:loctor. | do
not know what the MPs did to implcment the plan. { do not know of aoy training that

was provided to the MPs on what Ml could do with detainees or if M| traiped on what
MPs could do with detainess. 20/20 Hindsight,-it should have been done. _

and that they not have to go through
the normal inprocessing ould tell you
more. | went to speak t bout my concerns over this ent and
asked if we were going to contipuc thus. He said yes 1o facilitate their request. They
would drop off detainees without nbufying us. J do not remember any staff officer
voicing any concerns about OGA conceming lhesc practices although they may have. In
fact } was under the impression m#:smblishcd good relations with this
orgaruzation and that the problem had been reduced to a manageable level. With

to the siciﬁCs of a dead detainec | can rclate the following: AN OGA rep an

ith regards
otified me that a detainer was dead; we reporied this information to !: i‘... !
as injormed by the OGA representative on the scene that the detaince died during an
interrogation while an OGA interrogator was velling at him. The dewainec apparently
coliapsed white he was being interrogated. The body appeared 1o have been in a fight.

. &P 101d me that the detawee recerved the injuncs during the take down in operalions the
night before. The operation was a combination o% 1 saw inpunies (o the
ief side of the head. It was decided that the body wo placed in a bag and iced o
prevent roning. The body was removed that evening/next day quielly making it appear.as
if 2 detainee was injured in order 1o provent Unnccessary panic among the other detainess.
OGA investigated the incident and decided that they would comply with inprocessing
requirements afier the advised them to do so. Likewise when TF-
121 asked to use our faciity montns later | recall we required them to. follow established

policy as well-

ve no knowledge of any MI pcrsun- sbusing detainces by pushing thern off a truck or
on the ground. I would think that if 3 15G i my Bripade knew about the use of
excessive foree, he would et me know No one ever told me about such an 'mcidem.-

@B+ incrationa) Community Red Cross (ICRC) visited Abu Ghuaib twice. Onee before
1 was FOB commander and once afler  They did not meet with me the first uime. 1 did
_receive a copy of the results and noted there were aliegations of maltreatment and
" detainees wearing women underwear on their heads. I did not believe it. 1 felt som
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_inees just simply wanted to get some sympathy. I truly believed our guys were not

doing this. 1 recall I might have rclayed to the staff that this stuff couldn’t have been
happening. I cannot specifically recall telling the staff this stuff better not be happening,
but I might have said words to the effect. When the ICRC came by the second time, the
FOR invoked GCIV/Article 143, for eight detain from talking tc the
1CRC while undergoing an active interrogation. formed me that [ had

- the authority to do this. Before | became FOB commander, | was told there was a

shortage of jumpsuits, but | was never toid about the women’s underwear issue. .
occasiopally walked down Tier 1 A and 1B and | never saw any naked dctainech

‘m training on [ROE was established at Abu Ghraib after we had an incident with -
A/519" soldiers on or about 6 OCT. It was reported to me that three male soldiers had
gore in to interrogate a female detainee and had some sexual motives and had touched
the females. I told; ¢ needed to suspend the individuals from
interrogation operat®ns and remove them from contact with detainees. A CiD
investigation was initiated but there were not enough evidence to prosecute them for
detainee abuse or sexual misconduct so | gave them Article 15s for dereliction of duty.
Two soldiers were reduced in rank and fined and another was fined and taken away from
intcrrogation operations. 1 was told that 8 TITAN Linguist was also involved, but that he
did not panticipate. hought there were some initial problems with the
linﬁists staternent ana went back to clarify the situation. When he came back

told me we had a truc statement and | took the recommendations from my stai

as Lo the disposition of the three soldicrinterrogators. We did not fire the linguist and
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' .
“n;?mwmppemd o him after he transferred. Everyone was brought eventually togetber and the IRCEs were reiterated.
| had no suspicion that the incident went beyond these individuals or that night. Another ume, it was reparted that an

imerrogator ruﬂ inappropriately waken the clothes from a detaince and led him back to the compound. | spoke |
and he recommended the individuals be surpsaded form interzogations, orally reprimanded, counseled and given ‘
training. § concurred. 1didn't thiok this presented a panern, We had maay interrogalions take place belween the two incidents
witheul any notification of problems.  believe that the entire chain of ‘command and supervision believed this was an unusual
occurtence; and that suspension and retraining would send the riale message to everyone. The shooung in the Hard Site
was brought to my aitemtion when BG KARPINSKI called 1o tel] me sbout . She asked if | knew there had been a shooung 1o

Tier 1A. Afu wenl down 1o tbe hifd site and my immediate concern was to check on everyone and notify higher
headquarters. walked me around and explained 1o me what hawd There was a Syrian detaince who had a
handgun. Anolier detaince had told someane of the presence of the weapan. n | arrived, MPs were conducting a

“shakedown" of the [raqi Police and préparing for a cell search of the Cell Block 1A, 1 recall witnessing & smal} pan of the cell .
search, The detainees would be taken out of their cells and the dogs would go in the cell 1o search for weapons. This was done
one by one. As far as 1 could Iell, the guard dogs were being ied by their dog handler. An charge of the
search. | am sure there were some M1 personnel] there but { do not remember who they were. id me that our Mi
personnc were interrogating the Iraqi Police in suppon of the MPs. | dida't see il. 1 do ot : crvilian al Lbe sue.
Al no ume did | see dogs being used during iterrogations. -| was pot aware that a dog might have biten a linguist. The first time
1 found out about 1t was when | read e CID report. If thus happened, someone should have wld me. 1 pever witnesied any
detaines abuse. | was satisfied with the level of knowl I had and that they were in compliance wilh the policy on
counter-resistance, IROE and the Geneva Conventio very competent as the ICE Chuef and had implemented a
sysiemm to Lrain personnel coming o the JIDC. [ a assistapce vitit from early October through the beginning
of December looking at ali facets of operations and tbey never reported anything inapproprisie. During our Fort Huachuca MTT
we did 2 lefuright seat ride and was provided only positive feedback about the ongoing operations. 1 bad seen nothing io doubt
that things weren't being done right. 1 was abie to identify ane of the linguists in one of the photos thown to me - is
standing 1n one of the TIERS with several soldi~rs around a naked detanee on the floor. I was also able 10 identify » female
linguist with a civilian (did not recognize him). They were with 2 detainer who appeared (0 be i an unavthorized siress position.
- | Taking the photos was a violation. If an NCO did oot report an incident he was aware of, there was a break down. There 15 no
justification for any abuse of detainees and the leadership did ool condone it. in all cases where abuse was brought lo my atteation
1 wok action 1o disciplipe soldiers. | believe that the vast majonity of leaders and soldiers were acting in good faith o do the hght
thing and (hat prudens actions were taken 1o conduct traiung with leams from GTMO and FT Huactuca. However, clearly a
more rigid inspection of operations, less confidence in ¢rvilians working in interrogation, and tloser attention to ICRC repont of
abuse may have tnabled eatlier detection and prevention of some of this. 1 also believe that the difficult conditions of Abu Ghrab,|
the lack of established doctnne and little collective traimng for JIDCs, as well as the Army decision to migrate the Brigade's
glll‘:rromo into the Reserve Components after Desert Storm were all contributary faciors to the situation that occurred at Abu
raib.
Q. Do ve anything else 1. add 10 this stalemen!?
A. No

Hittin VLI T 11 End of Sulcm:m.(!HI!IIIUIHHIlﬂlﬂlllflllh

AFFIDANIT
L . AVE READ DR WAVE HAD READ T( ME TH3 STATEMERT
WHICH SEGIH ON FAGE 1. AND ENOS DN PAGE LLY UMDERS TAND THE CONTERTS OF THE ENTINE § TATEMENT MADE

BY ME THE STATEMENT IS TAUE. IMAVE WITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE W(TIALED THE DOTTOM DF EACH PAGE COWTAINNG THE STATEMENT. | HAVE Ulh! TS
STYATEMENT FREELY WITHCUT HOPE DF BENEFIT DR REWARD, WiTHOUT THRELT OF PUNSeMLNT AXD WITHOUT COERTION. UNLAWSLL MNFLUENCE. DR UNLAYE UL ISDUCTMERT

{Sgmmisr of forsem Madwy 3iatemmnt}
WITNESSES. ‘ 7 Subrervat 3ol iwam 10 binin me. 3 parawn puthen 1ol by low 1o
SOTarmL1OT Satha, th L4th  dayol MAY . 2004

s DARMSTADT, GERMANY

DRGANLZATION OR ADDRESS \ iSomarrn of Pocgen & v
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SWORN STATEMENT
For use of this form, see ATl 150-45; the proponem SHency » GDCSOPS

- PRIVACY ALY STATEMENT
AUTHORITY: Titse 10 USZ Suction 301; Titke 5 USC Sechon 2951; £.0. 9397 cated Novembpar 21, 1843 [SSAL.
PRINCIFAL PURPDSE:  To provide commandars snd law enlorcemant officisin with means by which information may be sccwawly
ROUTINE LISES: | Your aocial SECURTY PuUmbEr i Uned 38 an adettionsusiirmate maans of wentification 1o Incilizate liking snd vl
DISCLOSURE: Dinclosure D! YOU! SORIAL BRCUPITY AUMBRT I8 VAMTBFY. e )
1. LOCATION 2 DATE (YYYYMM / 3. TIME /y 4. FILE NUMBER
MNF-1 HQ. Irag 200 2

7. GRADE/STATUS

T NAME, MIDDLE NAME 6. 55N
st - - 0-8/USA

6. DRGANIZATION OB ADDRESS
MNF-1, DC5-0PS -

. WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH:

rrived in lrag, early August 2003, possibly the 4ib or Sth. | did pot discuss the consolidation of o oas at Baghdad Cpnn!
Correcuanal Facility with General Sanchez at that nme. We did not discuss inserrogations until mid o late Orciober, | don't recall
stting down with either General Fast or General Sanchez 1o discuss interrogatsons until that time. | was more involved with the
farce protection aspect of the correciional fagility, conceniraung oo the quick reaction force and the countes battery fire, things of
that patyre. Myself and General Waodjakowskj had numerous conversanons concesning the security of the fasility. As for General
Sanchez being frastraicd in the Ociober time frame, 1 did not see that. The first sign of frunration that | wimessed was ot uotil
the January wme frame. General Sanchez was frustrated at the cloudy picture as a whoic. The picture of, “who is my toemy”, was
not being sruculuted (o him to his satisfaction. However, mierropsion and detainee operations were only pra of that frusisstion

and not the sole reason for it. Lo mid January 2004, 'Geperal Sanchez, at s sff metng voiced his frusuration with the :ﬂ

ralions sinuaticn and said something on the order of, “s0 who ia the stafT is bringing all this logether?” Our
wated that be bad staff responsibility, and | followed up by saying that since | supervised the PMO that 1
ve.  Approximately one weck later | e-mailed General Ryder and requesied his axsistance because [ felt we did not bave Lhe

proper expertise on the staff with regards 16 detawnee operations. Thus resulted in two formal requests: (1) dated 16 Janmry 2XM,
for a Mohil. Traimng Team for military corrections specialists, and (2) dated 29 Junuary 2004, requesting & detention operMions
cell to augment the PMO staff. Genera) Sanchez never spoke 1 me about the counter resistance policy, nor did we discwss milivry
intelfigence implications as far as interrogations 1s concemed  The 4th Infantry Division was extremely active, they were
conducung very aggressive offensive cperations The volume of delawnees being collected by them was high, that being said, they
were conducting aperations in a very hostile environment and their operational lempo was onc of the highest in theater. | have
never beard of the, ~50 meter rile”, contermuag the Ath tnfantry Qivision or any other unit. | recal! that from mud Cctober o,
there were dISCUSSIODS CORCSTTNG the slow release of dewunces. encral Sancheg was concerned that maybe the procedhires were
nol what they should be as for (e velcase of the detatnees  Generals Fast and Saochez discussed ke, "board issue” on & number of
occasions.” Some of the problem seemed to be (hat toc avision holding areas were becomung 0o full and necded the detainees 1o bef
moved out, tal meant (o the Baghdad Central Correcuonal Facility, Another problem was that when s deusinee was released the
) commanders in that parucular sector did not want them 10 be released in their area of operations. As for e force proteclion
posture al the Baghaad Central Correctional Facility, 1 don’t believe 1hat there was more of a threat there than in any of te
forward operating bases and every reasonabie siep ( provide sccunty for the troops and the dewintes was taken. The bctics being
used in that area were constantly looked a1 and adpusted %0 the chanping sifuation. One example was the etra radar coverage in L
area. Thes and other Stcps wort 1aken 10 SECUTE The 't va ¥ itw o ik i allention was given (o the facility. | do ool know

who made the decision 1o use that parucular facility, Apdod § Conl.s L ariecmsing badians oo L o e
e vou Bave amying 10 1310 3 strement? w N L i
—
Tt
10 EXHIBIT Ty OF VAR e TATEME e
Ipace 1 oF PAGES

AODITIONA! PAGES MUST CONTAIN THE HEADING "STATEMENT TAKENAT _____ DATED

THE BOTTOM OF EACH ACDITIONAL PAGE MUST BEAR YHE INITIALS OF THE PERSON MAKING THE STATEMENT, AND PAGE NUMBER
MUST BE BE INDICATED.
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STATEMENT DF.—‘_______»_ YaKEn AT MNF-L HQ. lng  pareo A&L T4

“STATEMENT (Countiriuad)

AFFIDaAVIT

. HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT

WIRICH BEGINS ON PAGE Y, AND ENDS ON PAGE . VFULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS DF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE
BY ME THE STATEMENT IS TRUE. 1 HAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INITMLED THE BOTTOM OF FACH PAGE
CONVAINING THE STATEMENT, + HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITROUT H BENEFIT OR REWARD, WITROUT
THREAT OF PURISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERCION, UNLAVWFUL INFLUENCE. - NLK !

son Making Jratemeni}

YITNESSES Subscnbed snd sworh 10 belore mae. & peison suthoned by lsw Lo

aarminister oRihy, This day ot lfﬂﬂ’ _Zw‘f
N, ek ~

ORGANIZATION'OR ADDRESS nature vl Persun wing Oathi

{Typad Nams of Persan Admurusterng Oath)

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS 7 fAuthonty Ta Adminier Qeth
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INITIALS OF PERSON MAKING STAT i ; - )
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[_ ' : SWORN STATEMENT

For uas of thiz form, ses AR 190-456; the pr w DDCEDPS
LOCATION . DATE TIME ! FILE NUMBER
NMF-1 HQ, lrag ' !
ET NAME, FIRSTNAME, MIDOLE NAME | SOCIAL S GRADE/STATUS
1 0-8/USA
O~ .. ..o o0 . T
DRGANIZATION OR ADDRESS :
MNF-1, DCS-0OPS

T \WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER DATH:

1 arrived in lrag, carly August 20603, potsibly the 4th or SB. 1 did nen discuss the :u:_:olidnioqof opeTatons at the Baghdad
Ceatnal Comr:?ionﬂ Facility with/General Sagchez at that time. We did pot discuss inlerrogations uptil mid 1 late October, 1
Jon't recall sitting down with either Genozal Fast ‘or General Sanchez to discuss "
involved with the force protection s ‘of the corrertional facilicy,- ‘E on the quick

batiery fire, Jhings of thal parure, Most of these discussions were with Genersd odpkmnhcé Mysclf and Genenal
Wodjokowski had numerous conversations concerming the security of tie facility. As fori! _

tbe Ociober time frame, | did not sce that. The First sign of frustration that [ witnesyed Was Bt anti] the Janyary dme frame
General Sanchez was frustraizd at the cloudy pichure as a W olc. The picture of,"who is my encmy” was Dot -being articulaed

1o him to his satsfaction. However, interrogation and detainer operations were only part of that frustration and not the sole

reason for it. Sometme afier the pew year, General Sanchez lalked o me direcily sta suff meeting ad
with lack of results concerning the entire detainee operations and asked, “who is tnnﬁnl this together?”
responded by saying that he was e guy, and 1 10ld Geoeral Sanchez that | was the PMO's supervisor and therefore [
look into it. In mud Jantuary 1 alked with General Ryder concerning deminee operations and said that |

in charge. This happened just before the incidents became known. | iold General Ryder that we pecded
operations because we dign't have the cxperis. We necded an 0-6 or and 0-7 and a Mobil Traiming Ticam;
L0 1o have the expertise, General Sanchez pever spoke Lo me ahour the couner rexisunce policy, nor did
wtelligence imphications as far as imerrogaGions operations is concermed. The 4l Infantry Division was extremely active, they
were conducting very aggressive offensive operauons. Tbe volume of dewainees being coliected by them was high, that being
said, they were conducung operations in a very bostile environent and their operational tempo Was Doc of the E;hm in
theaicr. | have never heard of the, 50 meicr” rule, concerning ibe aih Infantry Divisioo or any oter unit. 1 recall that from
rid-Ociober on, there were discussions CORCErMINE the release of deminees, General Sancher was concemned that maybe the
procedures were niot what they should be as for te release of the dcuinees. Major Geoeral Fan and Geacral Sanchez discussed
the “board 1ssue” on a number of occasions. Not enough of the dewlnees were hr.inLrelund. General Sanchey, secmed to be
trustratcd at the lack of progress with the sinualion. Sore of the problem seemed w be that the division holding areas were
pecomung 100 full and they noeded the detainecs 10 be moved out, that meant seading them to tbe Baghdad Central Correctional
Facility. Another problem was that when 3 detamner was relcased the commanders in that particular secior did pot want them
released 1n their area of operatons. As for \be force proiecion posture at the Baghdad Central Correctional Fucility, 1 don't
behicve thal there was more of a threat tere than in any of the forward operating bases and every reasonsble siep to provide
security for the troops and the detainees was aken. Given tbe dynamic nanire of the p_?r::ﬁun in that area of Ing and the
hostility towards coalition forces it is po wonaer that there were 2 number of anacks, ATE D enough resources Lo protect
every facility 100 perceoc of the ume, the tactics being used in Lhat area were zonstantly looked at and adjusied Lo the changing
stuatios. One cxample was the catra fadar coverage in the area. This and other sweps were taken (o secure the facility.
Constant 1acncal auenton was gived 19 1he faciliy witb General Wojdakowski being personaily invoived. The Divikion was
given more batle Space 10 beler suppont the area, someone was always working i, do not kpow who made the decision W
use that panicular faciliry {Baghdad Central Correcuonal Faciliny). L e
Do you have anything to add Lo thus satemen?? ) ‘

EXHIBIT "INITIALS OF PERSON MAKING STATEMENT
) , page1oF __0 _ PAGES
ADDITIONAL PAGES MUST CONTAIN THE HEADING “STATEMENT OF TALEN AT DATED____ CONTINUED.* '
THE BOTTOM OF EACH ADDITIONAL PAGE MUST BEAR THE INITIALS OF THE PERSON MAXING THE STATEMENT AND BE INITIALED
AS "PAGE. . OF. _ PAGES." WHEN ADDITIGNAL PAGES AAE UTILIZED, THE BACK OF PAGE 1 WiLL BE LINED OUT, AND THE
STATEMENT WILL BE CONCLUDED ON THE REVERSE SIDE OF ANGTHER COPY OF THIS FORM.
DA FORM 2823, JUL 72 SUPERSEDES DA FORM 2523, | JAN B3, WHICH WILL BE USED. - VBAPKC V2,00
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STATEMENT [Cortirnmd)

AFFIDAVIT

1

, HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT

WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE 1 AND ENDS ON PAGE

CONTAINING THE STATEMENT. | HAVE MADE THIS

THREAT OF PUNISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERCION, UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE, OR UNLAWFUL INDUCEMENT.

WITNESSES:

Z .
BY ME. THE STATEMENT 15 TRUE. | HAVE NITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE

| FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIAE STATEMENT MADE

STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD, WIEHOUT

iSipnanwe of Parson Making S tatament!

Subscribed snd sworn 10 befors me, 3 person suthorized by law 1o

_sumwusler asthy, Y day of 18

at

CRGANIZATION DR ADORESS

{Sigratwra of Perssn Administaring Dath)

ITyped Narme of Person Admaniising CAth}

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS

iAuthoriny To Admimater Datte)

INITIALS DF PERSON MAKING STATEMENT
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SWORN STATEMENT

Ve uee f This forat, see AR YHCAR; the propenent agency 18 DDC3DOP3

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT
Tiie 5 U3 D Secuen 2851; L3 8397 suted Novemer 22, 1943 (SFAY

AJTHORITY, Tine 10 WSS Sectica 308
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MWadien WOsakimak WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLGWINT STATEMENT LNDER G2TH

]

b -

On ? Septornticy FU0%, 1 bevame e ey y cannadct 103 Y Corps. O 13 Jane when V Carps heeame CITE-7, | became iha
Depuy Compsarades (o (0 SANCHEZ  The &0t MY Briva e was plared TACON 0 CITH-Ton 15 dune 2003 Ny fube,
e hh el e eiare b m tma it e exception of e Heasmounrie s and the sepprl hase thal was in ARIFIAN, Rnvuil
s e, £ tesied 16 1D b SO0t sominatiber, that By ol t suppest his urits Troos ARIFIAN and needed i meve ok
CAMD VITTORY or ANAUONDA m liwg. Feows 1130 {Tedt the carmmander and FO's eouid belter supervise W vuriows B
urais Firsthurd, they cowld belter covriifate with CI-T Py bemg co-losaied, and we could bribd s BIE st onr prem s
potgved (n to L6 RARPINSRD i obar Dl toamant e RO L Dy, amd 2 taee Aupust she rooves e POF s e
aniap Vet D asd ol raw B3 I ATCPINGE D and dad e pive w0 e OFR She was rated by BG DIAMOND,

r Theier Sigs ot Comeatder Tl gk VDT fad e Tessatsinilily o rn all detention sacililies in Tray, Srwe e
et woan 3 ACOR 1 CHTE T o diprae ptoversielst s G whorive sver Jorees made available for taskiag, lmeed
the e and Zontie g1 sl eI ry B alTETRPESh pissuns assipned. T xent ahreast of all th
semree Bripades i boablioe o Tarueel § futiesd

: 7 sl (TACSAT: e thre times a week with commanders o
G AT st e et e BGRARPINSRE very rolumn patii vaed DTG Sarches held a nightly TACSAT updize with b
e e ders, T e vepearars B v s sl amdduded A (e depty comminder. bowas TESTORSIDIE {08 ULTNCTIRG
cihihes 17 frad. along wit matie sk dali ond thapetore ezl wath Atn Ghuraib eatensly i
w ey reor Boand wing i o verd and allezatnd reseuees for Lue sepport and resoures sopart 107
S GFred™ wao o KoV Jatiing where copsadidaion ) < EHRTEN
LS AT SR alwayd came W s when sac acvees sitnperl, shoae
sttt B0 Can s, ooy Ao fe L e 8007 MY EDE 3 peberred Ber bo work wih the C2 amd he sestel e
s U roest oov she resded = e worked hreugt o ownte! tsaes Wi supporting Abu Ghrai ad daee hasiion
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: . ondonu ] B oshines out Ranns e le Doa S LIS Interrogalion, Bnd R EIRE
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=t L YERENT OF walrer Wordukowskd . TAKEN A1

L'E,r"STs\TEM!;N‘I' Loptitiad]
cumpiets brielings w our Commander. We would disiribute changes through Fragmentary Orders. - Yes. FRAGDS wete
clagsilied 1o prowect and control iofarmativn flew, hut they were wrivtzn for comupamters who could extract pertinenn piemmatos.
and paass i onto their soldiers. The ERAGOS were not written o br distribuied airecity W every suicier. Yes, | did kaow shur
SO PLISeRErs Who Were geiing W Abu Ghraib withous T proper lagging and sereering being accemplished by our orward
s, We bad 1o tolerate seme of tas hetause. gven @ choite wih Knew i1 was beiter 1o Sorl okt doiamees o our centrat ol
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: SWORN STATEMENT
For use ol this {orm. 3e8 AR 190-45: tha proponent sgency is DDCSOPS
FUVACY ACT ST ATEMENT
AUTHORITY: Tile 10 USC Saction 301; Title § USC Seclion 2051; E.O. 5397 dotsd November 22, 1943 [SEN).
MUNCIPAL PURPFOSE: To provide COMMBROST sad law snfarCement officiala with masns by which information may be accuriely
MOLITING USES: "N our sackl sscurity number I ubed 86 a1 $sitionsl/siIeTILE MEAAL of identitication 10 [acsiate thing and retnevs.
DISCLOSURE: Discieaurs 0! your §ocial secufity rumbar is volurmary.
1. LOCATION T2, DATE (YrYvmMDdol |3. TIME T4, FILE NUMBER
CAMP VICTORY, BAGHDAD. [RAQ 2004/06/19
7. GRADE/STATUS

5 LAST NAME. FIRST NAME, MIDDLE NAME 6. SSN
MILLER, GEOFFREY D. -8

8. GAGANIZATION DR ADDAESS . . ] .
MULTI-NATIONAL FORCES-IRAQ, OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY COMMANDING GENERAL-DETAINEE QPERATIONS -
8 ”

-1, Gegflrev 1. Miller , WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH:

Q. How did the TTF GTMO mission o assist CITF 7 oripinatc? i ) )
A. The requirement 1o esiablish 1 JTF Guantanamu Asscssment Tewm Tor CITF 7 was direcicd from Lhe Joiwt Chicls of Suff 10
SOUTHCOM. | was in Washiaglon D.C brieling the Deputy Secretary of Defense in May 03, | met with MG RON BURGLSS.
1CS -2 and during ous discussions he stated 1hat there were somé challeuges in CTTF-7 with the transition from Major Cw!blﬁ_
Operaiians 1o Suppart and Suauinmen! Operations (SAS0) 1n the ureas of intelligence, InterTogaton, and detention, ) wld him if
\here was 4 request for JTF GTMU to conduct ao assistance visii that JCS must task SOUTHCOM 10 cuntuct 1k mission. Aboul
wn doys later, SOUTHCOM called and patificd me they had » WARNORD 1o suppes! CITF-7 2od that o FRAGO was comin
vut 19 deploy. hminielis
interiugation DpCTeLiods, and dewntion apersuuns. The Asslatance Team I persunnc) who wert currcally
assipned w JTE GTM O or ihose who had Tecently been axsigned w assist o how intelligence fusion operations, interrngaliun

operations, and detention operation could be belter imegraicd. Once we Teceived the GO, we deparied to 1r29.

Q. What was the difference between the mixsion at JTF GTMO and the misyion of CITE-T?

A, The missions were significendy diffsrent. Operaucns canduéted hy CITF-7 weie tonducted under the provisions of Genevit
Convenuion 3 for EPWs and under Geneva Convenuon 4 lor Sccurity Interpces. The operstions ut TG GTMO conducicd
dewention spd intetrrogation of cnemy combatanis. ITF GTMO adhered 1o he provisions of the Goneva Convention except where
smiliary necessily diciated ax directed by the Nav 01 Presndential Divective. .

Q. Wha at CITF-7 did you distuss the JTF GTMO assesament visit sitalegy? -

A, 1mel with 1.TG Sanchez smn alter the Team aerived for an wn briel and we discussed the assessment plan. Ve discuwsed the
visii strategy and applicsbility of Grencva Cunveavun reyquirements 1hal spplicd in Irsg. Twld im the Team wold need 96 houts
Wi conduch our inLal axsessoent of iteligence tusion aperations ve ke siall, the inlerrogation opcratiuns st the CITE-7 fevel,

| and the CITF-7 level detention operations. Fullowing the \nitia) assexsment § would provide an in-process review of the findings. 1
had @ Snbar duscussion with MG Faw. facused on the imeligence fuswn and Likerrogalion operations. .

Q. Wiat wote the Teutn's gsscssments in the arca of intelligence and interrogation and o whom were Ihey proviged?.
A The asscssments of ull areas and Tecominendalions weic provided in the asfessroenl repan oo Y September 03, { bricfed both
LTG Sunchez and MG Fust on that tay and provided \he uasessrment report and mesociuted SOPS.

(. Can yuu characienices (he uperatioml cavironment and ocus of thy iotelligence and inierrogatiun you ubserved during yuur
assessment visis” :

A. The Yib Corps has 1econtly transitinncd 160 a CITF stpcure. The inclligence aperaliuns and interrogation operations v bath
the Camp Crappel favility and Abu Ghraib werc focused at the iactical Jovel, working 10 transiton (0 opeostions! level
requitements lor the CITF. Camp Cropper sl /by Cihraib welt il sepagate inleriogation facilitics with thest own independcnl
collection [ocus. The mmjatity of the inlerrogations were being comlucted 3t Camp Crupper. Abu Ghesib was jusi beginning 10
estsblish intellipence exploiiauon and intertogation uperavions. | Bscusyed vur sssessmCHl and Tecommendation [ csiablish a
Joint Interrogation and Debriefing Center with MG Fast and 1TG Sanchez. Wi discussed the process of intclligence fusion and
how SUIAlegiC IMCITOEANONS WerE eonducted a1 JTF GTMO.

10, EXHIAIY 77 TTHTTIALS OF PERSON MAKING STATEMENT |
! e IPAGE10F __ 3 FAGES
A DOTIONAL PAGES MUST CONTAIN THE WEADING *STATEMENE ____. TAKEN AT DATED

THE BOTTOM OF EACH ADDITIONAL PAGE MUST BEAR THE INITIALS OF THE PERSON MAKING THE STATEMENT, AND PAGE NUMBER
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S'TATEMENT OF GEFFR.EV

D. MILLER Taxen a7 _CAMP VICTORY  DATED 2004/06/1%

§. STATEMENT (Continued

Q. 1t bas been 1cporied that Ry sotificd uf inappropriate interrogation procedures and did oot report this

furihes. Would this surprise you?
JA. Yes 1t would be owb of chamacier for
perlnmmance 3t JTF GTMO was superb.

. Were theye inlerTogation autboritics &1 JTE GTMO that suthorized the temoval of clothing & an interrogalion rechnique?

A. Yes, From 12 December 02 to 15 Januaty 03 JTF GTMO had SECDEF approved 1ho imcriogation authorily i temave Hems
of cinthing s & part of inferfogatans. To the best of my kiowlcdge JTF GTMO sever used this techaique during that period.
All personne) were notified in January 03 that this wechnigue was no Jonger authorized.

Q. Was therc inten'« preswite ob COL Papas to produce intelligence from intcrrogations? | N )
JA. Whan 1 visued braq for the fust fime, the CITE was rransitioning from combal opersuons & statsly and SASO operations,
but there was still a significans amount of fighting going o1 ) did nat ghetect any extraordinary presmure being tpplied w COL

Papas. lo my experience. there is always

fight. & simply saves soldicis Lives andl is always a priofily. In looking a1 actionable intelligence vo help the {ight, | assersed that
at the intcliigence operations fo dovelop aclionable imcllipence and injormalion for the commamicT was bully snd act rapid. One
of the challenges | observed was there were a large number of iniclligence priorities and Feywircmens for the unit to answer. The
lcadership and seldicrs at Adu Ghralb werc confused and dida’t know whal (o focus oa. | sccommended 1o MG FAST that the &2
refine and prioriiize the igicligence requircmenls, C2X - HUMTT opesations - was oot effwctive and shoukd be redisected to
beties assist in wstablishing imelligence collecion prioritics. Thie wnit 31 Aby Ghraib was not producing Intelligence lafurmation
Reports in 2 amely monnce, This is one of the easential documents 1o Rssist in developing actionable iniciligence forthe

commander The ‘Team sugpesivd that the
thedr IBICTIUEIUON BUTBmMALLS.

Q. What was vour assessment of the Intelligence unit a1 Abu Ghriab’s ability to sccomplish its mission?

. The Team notwed there was a lack of equipment and Lacilities to conduct inierrogatons. There wee very few computces for
the troaps lu use 1o leverage the information cunsaincd in other inicligence duipbascs. They had s canvas tont {lat was being
uscd s ap intersogation booth, Their intcrrogalors dic not have analysts that cied as an intprated tead. We recommended they
use the Tiger Ttam concept where the interropuior and analysts routnely worked together so ihey could be morc elfcctive. To do
the kimd of system linkoge w make the most of out the 1RteFrugution opporunitics we recommended they should esublish aa
inteliigence Jusion cell for analylical supporl. The unit wis funchioning a very hasic level - jats of effon but not much imelligence

autpui.

Q. Where they developing inlerragulion plans as \he banss 107 InLErfogalions]

A The Jears pssessmen was that C OIEanEZation was nut producing roeny interrogation pians as the basis for interrogation.  'We
recnmmended they should develnn imerrogation plans and then gel il appraved prior W all imerrogations. The secaor NCOs and
Wegrrant olficers shuald he involved and trein therr soldicis im s sk, “Ihe analyst needs 10 help the inerrogator by reviewing

the inicnogawun plans for qualny control

Q. Wha did yuu provide your tepott wlice dcpaning CITF 77
A 1 senl the asscssment repon to SOUTFUCOM f:

distribuicg.

Q. Is there anviliing clse you would bike to add?

AN

o
i/-'.'n';'ffll.’ih'n’;f.'h'Hff.-'r’.‘/lH.'H.ﬁ'.’r‘lh’lH!h'HHM'IHHI.’II:.l'.".".'n'End of Sl:lcrhcnIJ/IHIHH!HIHIHHI’/IHHHUHIHIHUHIIHII'NHI!.'HIHHH,’

QPR ot have taken uctions if womething was wromg. His

pressure w provide imelligence o help the commander hetier be prepared 1 win the

IntcHigence Cell st Abu Ghrlab at least bhegin producing Memorandum fFir Reoord for

. and 1t was [prwardcd to the 1CS J2. 1 do nat know how it was further
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STATEMENT OF GEOFFREY D. MILLER TAKEN AT CAMP VICTORY DATED 2004/06/19 o
g. STATEMENT (Continued) / /
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AFFIDAVIT
. HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TQ ME THIS STATEMENT

\

. GEDTFREY D MILLER

WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE 1, AND ENDS ON PAGE_4 .

a8y ME. THE STATEMENT IS TRUE.
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT, | HAVE
THREAT OF PUNISHMENT, AND WiTHOUT COERCION,

} HAVE MVITIALED

~/

MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF B

| FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE

CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INTIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE
EFIT OR REWARD, WITHOUT

R UNLA Eh%

R

Hp}a 7o of Person Making Sratement)

ALL

‘$umcribeu snd¥wirn 1o baibre Me, & parson suthonzed by law 1o
ad;\hj@{er pathsg. this day of JUNE . 2004
VICTORY , BAGHDAD, IRAQ

OR ADDRESS

Lietd 7
~—ORSANZATON

Sremaiue of Person Adgminisianng

(Typed Narna

UCMIJ, ARTICLL 136

DRGANIZATION OR ADDRESS

[Authorify To Administer Oaths)
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21 June 2004
MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD.

SUBJECT: Procedure 15 interview of MG GEOFFREY MILLER

On 19 JUNE 2004, MG George R. Fay and interviewed
MG GEOFFREY MILLER, CJTF-7 - Detention Operati

ons. MG Miller_provided a
statement based on questions MG Fay asked him. wrote a
statement based on the answers MG Miller provided. e B23 was

typed and provided to MG MILLER for his review and signature. MG MILLER
stated he would not sign the statement and stated that we would have to send

him a set of questions he woulc provided answers 0. | have attached the DA
2823.

MAJ, M
Investigating Officer
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DOD 000639






opcraoons to

FRAGO was
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SWORN STATEMENT
. Foruse of s form, se8 AR 160-45; 4w proponant sgency is ODCSOPS
. BRIVACY ACT STATEMENT :
AUTHORITY: Tine 10 LUSC Setnon 301; Tiua 3 USC Sachon 2951; E.O. 5397 dased w 22, 1043 (SSN)
PRINCIPAL To provide COMMENGETS and Law gnforoement plficials with mams by whith iniomason mly be mcouraiey Genbhied
ROUTINE USES: Your 3B SCUNtY NUMber 13 LSED B8 N aodaonslaiternate maans of Identicaten tacilime fhng anc retneval
OSURE: Dusciosurs Of your soaal secuoty number 1 voluntary.

?‘SI.CDLGATION 7. DA 7 3. IME 4. FILE NUMBER
CAMP VICTORY .
%, LAST NAME, FIRST NAME, MIDDLE NAME B SS_N . 7. GRADE!STBE (13
MILLER. GEOFFREY
. ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
9.

Geoffrey Miller : WANT T MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT LUNDER DATH:

- Lo - ) - - - un
My initial visit 10 Lg cccurred 31 Augustio 10 Septcrober 2003, 1 was in D.C. briefing the Deputy SecDef when 1 received 2
fr:m RON BURGESS, J-2. 1o my own words, be stated that thete were some challeages with the transitioo. from major combat

1 told bim that the only way was 1o task SouthCom and that 1 would assist in locking imo Dewntion Opcrations becaute we were.
good at it. Ten days kater, SouthCom called and said \bey bad a call from JCS and had s WARNORD o support CTTF-7 and that

We 100k personnel who were cusreatly st GTMO or those who bad been there to assist on how detcpbon opernaion .
Obcc we received the FRAGQ, we depaned w lrag. Thu was apples and oranges ss GTMO was under Geneva three and Lrag was
ander Geneva fowr. ] smred that we necded 10 make sure from the beginnng that was undersood. We handed everyeos a Gepeva

Convenuon handbook to all we met with. 1 met wath LTG Sanchez and told him we would need $6 bouss 1o canduct &0 AsCSEIED!

of the operanons 1 1old LTG Saochez once we campleted the assessment that | was going o be hiuot. Abu Ghraib was not warkiag
well The Corps was tansiuomng to & CITF and the focuws st Abu Ghraib was tactical not soategic as it should be. A/519th wiis oo
the ground and they were bicrally conducnng wcncal operanons. They had split oparations sl Camp Cropper where the majonry of
the wierrogatons were being conducted (6xbooths) and Abu Ghraib wbere ey were beginning to establuh operstions (IXRFAP snd
1xTrojan Spunt). | told lum how sTrategic mierroganons warged at GTMO and how you fi:h.hm gathering informarion sad

soldsers o the ground didn’t know what had 10 be dapc. but Dol because we bad seen any abuse. They just nreded 10 kmow whal
some of the bouts were | also stated that be peeded to ge1 leadership down at Abu Ghraib to ovetsse Uhe operations and be ready o

ud back cf 3lop peoplc wheo things swned 1o go wrong 1 wrotz my feport and sent it up 1o SouthCom

1 spent troe with COL PAPPAS and QIR o 5300 ath them bow you go sbout esmblishing eperations. We wore

and control issue and that 1t was very effecuve Wher vou bave a lot of delairees and few guards, the dogs help with reduce the sk
of demonsTanons. Al Abu Ghraib you bad Camp Ganc: wiuch was an open ancd with three xtrunds of cotcerting wire, To vse the
dogs as A basc would reduce noRng or demonsraton Have the dogs when the detainees are awake not when they are slecping. We
have mevet used the dogs for micrroganons st GTMO and | did ot duscuss thus with them becsuse 1 did not have this coscept. When
1icf I did not leave anv docurnents 3t Abu Ghraib 1 did lrave s disc wits GTMC SOPs with the C2 and CG. ) did not beave
msTucDoDs with Lhe subordinalr UM, COL PAPPAS anendzd threc to four nightly AARs we beld while i Ing. | wanwed him to
understand where we were gomng and to be ready 10 respood o MG FAST or LTG SANCHEZ. | was asked to send assistance to
Abu Ghraib 1o belp get the Tiger v MG FAST |} told beT 10 go through JCS snd wsk for the reams. I ended up
sencenp five Tiger Teams lead b | do pot know who were the team members who acco iedim  They
were supposcd to have beeo the b . bk

could pe added to e tram 10 learn from them. The teams consisted of an wurTrogstor and ao analyst They deploved for 90 days
and were OPCON to CITF-7. They did contmue 1o 3 1 watb GTMO but not me. They would ask for S50Ps
apd other wiomanon 1t would be out of eharactet fo oot have taken actioas if somethuing was wroag. He
15 a sobd Warmnpt Officer  As far as respoval of clothudy we had recerve

techruque for about 3 su-week penod berween Dec 02 10 Jap 03 but that was gever done a1 GTMO, T did not elect 1o use that
techruque. That was rescmded. ’

Support and Sustanment Operations (SASO) The unelligence fusion and otelligence capability was not established

comung out to deploy. 1 putiogether s combiped interagency seam with intelligence, law caforcement, DIA

prison and scc bow it is established and-bow they art operating. We visied Aba Ghraib snd conducted an sscexoment

from hagh and low level value. 110ld LTG SANCHEZ be needed to establish mierrogation limits quickly because the

4 JCS J2 RON BURGESS and no ooe a: DOD

bascline we used 8t GTMO. 11a)d ther that the workung dogs were used in GTMO 1w belp the MP; with the custady

FAST that the reams would work as s 1cam and oot be split. Other soldiens

¢Def suthonty w use the removal of clothing as 3

1 ExRHIBIT
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STATEMENT OF i TAKEN AT o DATED

9. STATEMENT (Continued) i o _

In rclation to the intense pressare: When | visited lrag for the first time, the Corps was fransiboning from combat operations to
SASO operations but there was still a significant amount of fighting going on. In jooking at actionable intelligence o help the fight.
I didn't get 1o that Jevel 1saw that at the operations level the ability to get mformarion was bulky. There were a lot of calls being put
out for request for information. There were about 90 priorities and the folks on the ground (Abu Ghraib) were confuscd and didn"
know what to focus on. 1 told MG FAST that they were confusing the soldiers with what they wanted, They needed o reduce the
nurber of priotides to help them focus because they did not know what they were looking for. CZX was not funcdoning and they
needed 1o relook at how they were prioritizing the requirements. We hetped them established SDRs ond priorities. 1 never heard or
was aware of pressure commng from higher up. Therc were no [IR process fro a long period of ime. They were wnnng DIR. We
suggested to at Jeast writing MFRs for their interrogation summarics.’

When | first visited Abu Ghraib, 1 noticed there was a lack of equipment. They bad a tent as an interrogation booth. The system they
were using for imerTogation wes not working and we recommended they use the Tiger Team concept. In order for them w put in
place the GTMO system they needed computer systerns which they didn't have. To do the kind of linkage we had a1 GTMO and 10
link with the fusion cell for analytical support was just not there.  They were nat doiny 100 many ipterrogation pians. We told them
they needed to develop interrogation plans and then get 1t approved. The senior NCOs and Warrant officers need 10 get involve and
check on their saldiers. The analyst need to get help get an interrogalor oo tmeck by reviewing the interrngation plans for quality
ccnwol, they need 10 provide an assessment based on orraation they have gathered of the demmes and provide assistance by
telling an interzogator where they need to go next with the mterrogation. They were working very hard and mying to do their best -
and much of their work had to be dope by hand. I didn't sec the capability to move this very fast without the proper autoration. My
first priority was to get the organization of teams established and my second priority became establishing the computer system to
help with hnkage Lo the fusion cell and C2X. Tt is still an on going process and continues to et bener.

Q. Is there anything elsc you would like 10 add? A. No

PN e R T End of Statement IO i

i, * -
AFFIDAVIT

B . HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT
WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE 1, AND ENDS ON PAGE__ ) | FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE
BY ME. THE STATEMENT IS TRUE. | HAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT. | HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD, WITHOUT
THREAT OF PUNISHMENT . AND WITHOUT COERCION. UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE, OR UNLAWFUL INDUCEMENT.

{Srpnature of Parson Making Staiement}

WITNESSES. Subscriped and sworn 10 bafora me, a parson authonzed by law Lo
agmnister oams, this day of JUNE . 2004
st CAMP VICTORY, BAGHDAD.IRAQ

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS (Signature of Person Aoministenng Oath}

TTyped Naren of Peryin Acunpstonrs Lt
i LMY, ARTICLE 134G
DORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS (Autharty To Adrunister Oaths)

INITIALS OF PERSON MAKING STATEMENT

PAGE 2 OF 2 PAGES
PAGE 3, DA FORM 2823, DEC 19%8 , . LSAPA V.00

AGO00DO554

DOD 000641






SWORN STATEMENT
Zor use of thit form, s#8 AR 180-45; the proRORNt agency it 0DCSDPS

PRIVACY ACT STATEMERT

AUTHORITY: Titie 10 USE Secuon 303 Tale 5 USC Section 2651; .0, 9387 dated Novembas 22. 2943 ISSN/

PRINCIPAL PURPOSE: To provitie COMManders and law enforcermant of ficials with means by which miormaten may be aciuraten

ROUTINE USES: ¥ our £0cial SACLNTY nuMber 13 used a5 an addilional/alternata Means of icertilication to taciitale fiing ano relnevs.
DISCLDSURE: . Descioaurs uf your Socigl secur tv nurmber 13 voluniafy.

1. LOCATION 2. DATE rYYYYMMDD) 3. TiME 4, FILE NUMBER

CAMP VICTORY, BAGHDAD, IRAQ : 1004/06/18 )

7. GRADE/STATUS

NAME, MIDDLE NAME § S5N
‘ CoL

L n—" S
B. ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
OSJA, MNF-1

"

1 was interviewed by MG FA on 17 Juae 2004, [ was the senior Legal Advisor w LTG
SANCHEZ frm 15 Tune 2003 ay : ber discussing the need for 2 CITF-7 command
interrogapon policy was after MG MILLER s visit i CITF-7 in Jawe August and early Seprember 2003. We bad questions about
inierrogations corne up before iken from subordinate units. but we didn’l begin 10 formulate 3 CITES 1i | afier
MG MILLER's visit. | bad some conversations with MG MILLER and the zttorney on his team Jduring
their visit to CJTF-7, and | anended the MG Miller team io-brief in the C2 office,  There was on
methods aod approac peed for CJTF-7 to approach inlerrogations from the operational versus wactical level,
When | sat down with we discussed the ciffereoce berween GTMO and Iraq, including the fact that the Geoeva

WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH:

Convenuaons appiied in . «rs and | felt that we needed to have a icy on iNISTTORALOD Lechmuques, and
several of my officers discussed GTMG's experience with such a policy wi lengih. [ believe that MG
MILLER's visil was the gepesis for the developmeal and drafing of the CJ counter-resistance policy, We

started working in concert with officers from the C2 and the 205th M1 Brigade oo drafting the policy.

While A Company, 519th MI BN may bave had its own pelicy, I do not believe that it was the A/S19th policy we used-as the
basis for our pelicy. To the extent bere was 3 souree documezt, 1 believe that it was the DOD tnemorandum perwining 10 GTMO
that had been published in the spring of 2003. We used the DOD cover memorandum and modificd it as our own. My action
officers worked with M1 officers to review the approaches and scrubbod (hem Lo CSUrE camp iance with the Geneva Conventions.
We saw the A/519th document and used it. aleog with otber comparative sources, to develop the CJTF-7 command policy. 1
remember seeing Le A/519 policy ang asiing where the document bad come from and why a cotmpany had its own policy. 1
assume that some of the other wterTogation ututs bad their own policies or simply used what was in Field Manual 34-52. This usc
of various policies was one of the major reasons why the recommendation that CFTF-7 nteded one command policy was
compeiling My office took input from the Freld Manual, vanous policics, and M1 officers and drafied the 14 Sepiember 2003
Loterrogauon and Counter-Resistance Policy. 1t was iater updaied i the 12 Oclober 2003 policy, which remained in effecy for 7
menths, There were drafts that were staffed before the final Detober policy. As the drafts were reviewed, there were comments
concerning bow effective cenain approaches were and whetber our policy should list specific approaches atall. 1 behieve that Ml
doclrine suggests that use of approved approaches showd be left to the unagination of the interrogaor, while ensuring that the
appropriate controls were Lo place to stay within e bounds of the Geneva Conventions. 1 Zm Dot sure you cag get cveryonc to
agree precisely whea otherwise approved and lawful appmaches g0 oulside the bounds of the Copventions, but Hal 15 wby the
command bas policzes and oversigat. why there 15 doctrine, and why tHEre aIT [EVIEWS of interrogation plans. [ pechieve jtis
possible that the guys at the boltom weTen't fooking at the policy that we bad issued from the tOp.

We provided the 14 September policy 10 CENTCOM aod reecived comments through our legal \zchnical chanoels, We also
recewved input from tie Ml community. We modificd the policy and published the 12 October policy. am the auther of the 12
October Intermogauon and Coumer-Resistance Policy. ! am responsibile for the palicy document. 1t came owt of my office. We
wrote and ryped Lne verbiage and 1 walked 1t m for CG sigoatwe  The military meeligence expertise came frow the Miluary
tnieiligence community and 1 belicve they are the opes who provided the input thar came {from their manuals.

The subject of denying detainees clothing puzzics me. Stripping # detaince to £OLree o7 bumiliatz kim 18 prohibited. While
\BIErTOga0rs must £oBtrol the CVIrCIIDER: . this foust be done while reairtaining the floor, the minimuwm requiremenis, of the
Conventions. The leadership and those reviewing the intesrogation pians should caich apything that violates the Field Magual or e
Geneva Convenuons. Now 1 go back and Jook at our policy and | ask myself if anyone might have misinterpreced of
msundersiood what we wrote. The use of dogs 15 an example. Military working dogs can be used for securily. If they were
present 1o the celiblock for securky purposes o on the grounds for crowd conwrol or bomb-sniffing, they are oot subject 1o our
policy. However, if they are 10 be pant of an imerToganoo approach, then their use would be resiricied by the policy and subject 1o
all of e safeguards and approvals, 1doubt tha any reques: 1o bring dogs lmto At interrogation boolb as part of an wlerTogauon
approact would be approved because of wsues of $OTICIOn and safety. SCPregauon 15 keeping a detaince separated from the
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5 STATEMENT (Continved)

only as (o ILETTQgaLOn operations. but also as to the pr

CENTCOM pressuring us for intelligence.

41D

detainees. BG KARPINSKI chaired the Criminal Detainee Reteass Board,

established. Lo the Fall of 2003, the insurgeacy becaroe a real issue, the security situation wi

1ocused raids.

general population for secunty or o prevent collusion. Segregation is also used 1o scparate officer and entisied POW;. males and
fermales, adults and juveniles. Although often used interchangeably and not defined in the policy, it is different thap isolation. Iiis
not solitary coafincment and carinot be done 10 be coercive. Scgregation in excess of 30 days required CG approval. ) ]
If 2 detaines was placed in a dark, dank room for purposes of sering conditions for interrogation, it sbould have been laid out in
the interrogation plan and all those leaders reviewing the interrogation plany should bave said, "wail 2 minute, this docsn't look
right.” Iagree that both M1 and MP should bave known what was going oo io the facility. COL PAPPAS worked tirelessly orymg
1o get the piace runniog (o appropriate standards and [ bave obscrved him to be a very conscientious officer. People were oo edge
and under pressure in the Scptember/Qctober/November tme frame. Io the Fall of 2003, CJTF-7 was under intense pressase pol
o of intslligence @ general. 1 cannot recal] ever discussing this with
LTG SANCHEZ, twt I do recall conversations with officers al the Colomal level siating that the boss of the C2 had just received a
call from D.C. in reference to iptelligence production. ] Tecall everyone being very tired by this tme, and a Jot of activity was
going on. We all scemed to be under a lot of pressure, but that is parn of bemng in combat for a sustained period. I do not recall

In the summer and early Fali of 2003, there was i1 £00ITOUS problem in gerting supporting documentation when a detainee was
caprared, CJTF-7 wrote and published orders and policies on how tag persoanel, and bow 0 dorument the Circumsances of
capture. In May or Jung, we produces detailed capturs forms and an accompanying training p;:bge. Compliance in the ficld was
uncven at best. Between March and Nevember 2003, we would commonly have prisancrs with sparse documentation. This wasa
probiem consistently addressed by the comrmand, Eveotually, we publisbed orders that said we would not accept detaibees without
proper documensiation, inciuding sworn staternents. 1t is corvect that ibe bigges1 probicm with documens, DUmbeTs and pushback

was .

RELEASE BOARD: Ths Board was called the Review and Appeal Board and began in August 2003. At the begnning, the
files coming to the Release Board were thiti, They would sometimes inciude an incompicte caprure g of CPA apprchension formn,
and SOMELMES & SWOrn SWlcment, and sometimes i sermingly random assembly of MI documnents. MG FAST was the Board
President and expressed great frustration at the lack of documentation available, panicularly M1 docuents. The recorder would
put together a Board file for plenary session review by the Board members. Adjunct members from M, MP and CID would auend
<o the Board bad as compleie a picture of the detainer 23 possible. At first, it was very difficult to assess 1be detainee files. The
Review and Appeal Board Jooked at scourity ioternce files only. There were two Boards and the other one deall with criminal °

“The Review and Appeal Board would basc its decision o0 the information on the caprure wg or CPA apprehension form, MI
documents, Sworn statements if available, and on the judgement of its members. Even if 2 person was no lopger of inlelligencs
value, they could stll pose a threat to Coalition Forces or security. At the beginning, the Board went through & learning and
(maturation process on how to manage i3k We had no expericnce base or historical dala/demographics 1o fall back on. Insofar as
{ know, this was the first lime since WWII. (hrg using cusiomary iaw and the Hague Regulations, that this type of Board was

more dangerous fuoe. There was an wacrease w atiacks from the Former Regime Eloments and they were becoming more
orpanized. Intelligence became more critical, both ensmy auacks and our offensive operations ingreased, and the securily isternee
popwiation mushroomed. The Board was trving to find an appropriate balance between release and sccurity, and we took the side
of seousiry. We did oot want W take 3 chance based on what we didn't know. Unfortunately, we didn’t know much from an
{ntelligence standpount, ai leasi carly on. At Umes there were oo screening sheers and the only thing we had was a caprure tag
slating that a detainee was captured dunog a raig of a former regune cell. We would return the file for more MI input and would
reguest that the wnterrogator talk to the detainee 10 obiam more information. Despite tie difficulties, the Board system was
undergoing Coostant improvement and reviewed thousands of cases, releasing the majonty of detainees considered by.the Boards,
Afer a couple of months of Boards, we creates) thore mechanisms 10 push cascs through this process. in Ociober, the Detaines
Asseisment Board staned sending the Board cases of persons who were deemed of no further intelligence interest. We created
pre-screemung pacels of M1, Judge Advocate and MP officers. We devoted increased resources to the problem, all taken out of
hide. In the S3A sccuion alone, we bad ten personncl doing detention opcrations. which is not our sk or mission, and for which
we are not resourced. By the beginning of November, the Board was rmeeung more frequently and General Officer membets were
replaced by field grade officers so that the Board could meet for longer periods of time and maore often. By February, the Board
was meeung six days a week, all day, with permanent members. By January 2004, 1 tnk all of us invelved in the detaince area
xmew that we had 1o chapge the Board's philospky and predispositon from retaimng detainees to teleasing detainees. 1 proposed
that we take sieps to change the Board's release philosophy and the CG agreed, authoriring these changes with the implemenation
of the full-time Board in February. At the samz ume, however. we conunued 1o have remendous push back from some
commanders in the field. There would be a buge ouicry if e Board released one perceived bad guy amonp thousands of releases.
The CG issued command policy memoranda agd orders, ans 1 did 2 presentation at the commander’s conference, conceming the
need 1o treat all persons, including detainees, wikb Qignity apd respect. The presentation, as well a3 our published Rules for
Conduct m Combat on which all Seldiers were to be trumed, emphasized that Soldiers were (o Use judgment and discretion i
cetaining civilians, and were (o detain civilians only when necessary and authorized by the ROE. The CG suressed precision,

ICRC: | was oot present at Aby Ghraid during the ICRC visil in October 2003 and, insofar ax | kpow, nobody from the CYTF-7
headquarters or my office was present at e ICRC out-brief. Usualiy, onc of my officers or ] would arend the out-brief an [CRC

. and we found ourselves in 2
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STATEMENT OF qaxenar CampViory __ _ DaTED 200406118

9. STATEMENT Conmued! . . - ‘

L 3 CRC pericdicall umnrnu.mdhndqummﬂum and then the meetings were

mr&nt;ﬂ:w:‘gh Anenders w’:;.\ld m:lm:ofﬁ*?hmmy;“ﬂn. mﬁl’ Brigade, mommczsao:gcc
: i anend . is was ways possibie. Throughout 2003,

of General Counsel. We mried 1o have an M) cfficer A s although ; mgx T

ICRC repoms were 10t urmhurdml:mmmnc_lulo the

rEpOTS. Leniers on specihc 10pi addrmadwLTGSANC}EZm;mwmmdlmqu:mpuﬂum.
Mmynlulmcms.m' i " were lnonllyud:helCRCawnmm-urnpw-wm
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ICRC Protwecuon Delegate at g with the ICRC beid oo 16 November. [ was ot leave from 12 ibrough
30 Novem! Wﬁuaﬂﬂldﬂmmﬁﬂm&r‘ Two days
laser, my © ~'.'.nnd_|hemull'2ﬁpdcforrmw. On 4 Decembet, 2

mo:dnwdumnmcnpouldidm'uwug:

mectng. . mmm.mummquwwmnfﬁmum

00 MP Brigade for ipation . i mﬂAdkmm.uﬂu.nfm.mmedbv
. 1 i T X

a Brigadicr General. doo't know if ihe Bri made changes 1o the firai
product. General KARPINSKI g wher 20003
When } saw the ICRC T
Sudge Advacaics and ML ¢! the upiform )
not be SO of the 205th M1 Briy

lﬁ.ﬂe.mofmlmw‘ w
'a convermation in which the

hed the abuse we subsequenlly disso
month carlicr tan we did. The ICRC pext visited 3 Jazmary 2004 and, cowpared
Qciober, it was a good visit. The ICRC positively commenied on improvemenis. lavoking Artice 143 of the Fourth Geneva.
Copventico, we did oot allow the 1CRC 10 bave privale interviews with § jnterooes 'who were undergoing aCtive interrogatien, bul
did allow the 1CRC delegate to see the detainees, ou:wemuondiﬁomofm:irm Mmmd:madmme

Serial Numbers, We informed the JCRC that they D ipterviews in future visits, and this was doac. The night

before the ICRC visiL, } weat 1o the Hard Site with

urity § 5 ot e 1A side, The MPs suated mmmmmofmu.umm.
mélmldmcmmnminiomndmeG:mavmﬁmudmlmhumwwh:me.Th.'u
i zlnymwoﬂdlik:mnddtomismunm’r
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09 June 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD: .
SUBJECT: Procedure 15 Interview 0

‘On 09 June 2004,
interviewe ¢ following 1s based on w

answered to a serious of questons he was asked. He is currenty
reviewing his statcment.
0SJA, HQCO, MCCDC,
QUANTICO, VA 22134

1 arrived in Kuwait on the 3™ week of July 03 and inimediately deployed into Baghdad,

Irag. My duty the first three weeksgas operations lawyer for LTG SANCHEZ. ]
worked fo After three weeks, the Navy lawyer redeployed to
Germany ccame the Chiet of Operations Law over the Task Force. thm

arrived in January 04, he replaced me and I went back to wor
on some issues we had worked on before, The Interrogation Rules of
nRagement is a misnomer it is not the correct use of policy when dealing with detainees.
The Policies were “Interrogation and Counter Resistant Policy.” 1 first began dealing
with interrogation operations when MG MILLER visited Iraq. It was understood that
they had a great deal of expen om GTMO and had came to help us gain operational
level intclligencc.ﬂh: GTMO tzam and ] met to discuss policies for use
in Irag. This was a new game and we were discussing the role of lawyers to make policy.
~ We took the Field Manuals, policies and government regulations to find out how they ran
operations. The reason we began writing a CJTF-7 Policy was because there wese too
many units using their own policies. We feltit was a good idea to have a CJTF-7 Policy
to regulate interrogation operations. When MG MILLER came, he brought his palicies.
We gathered al] documentation available on Interrogation and Counter Resistant. These
are some of the documents 1 remember we used: FM 34-52, GTMO policies, CJITF-180
policies, Fourth Geneva Convention, lnternational Laws, DOD Directives, FM 27-10,
EPW Regulations. [ do not remember secing the power point slid reated.
It looks to me that she was doing her best to put some policy 1opether for he s and
being proactive. We saw the policies GTMO had and we felt that we needed to focus on
the Fourth Geneva Convention because unlike GTMO, the fourth Geneva Convention did
apply in Irag. We saw memos from other theaters and focused on; what had becn done
right; what we could task; and what didn't fi1 in our theater. Qur situation was different
and had to be desperate and distinct to what we were trying to do. We went through a
drafting process where we would look at other policies and studied them to try 1o find and
interpret the law. We also wanted to give the inteliigence community the ability to do
their job while following the Geneva Convention. We initially sent a draft to
CENTCOM in September (DATE). The draft was thematically similer to the policy done

AGO000558

DOD 000645



by GTMQ. CENTCOM came back and had some concermns with the draft policy we had
sent. ] agreed with their criticism; Stress management and Sleecp management were some
of the concern. CENTCOM felt they did not comply with the Geneva Convention and
could be subjective. The first problem was the ebility to try to place safeguards on cach
technique wasn't working. (Certain techniques bad time limits and we believed it was up
to the unit to request implementation of timing which would be different with each
detaince).  After we received the Draft back from CENTCOM, we decided we would
stick to FM 34-52 and instead of writing down techniques, we focused on safeguards.
We wanted to focus on the process. We wanted interrogation plans to be comprehensive
and approved at the units level by the leadership. We wanted leadership involved in the
interrogation plan process. We did not want to come up with e list of techniques wntten
by lawyers which would than become the only legal techniques which did more harm
than good. We wanted to allow the interrogator 1o use the Manual to use the technigues
that best suited his detainee. We added segregation on the policy for the effectiveness of
interrogations. We belicved that a detainee should not go back to his buddies to
collaborate and exchange information. [f 8 group came in, we needed to segregate them
* from onc another. The approval had to be approved by C2, SJA and {inally the CG. Ido
not think that segregation is a Geneva Convention term but it is an imporant concept that
is discussed in FM 34-52. We felt it was important for the interrogator to control the
movement of a detainee. Onge the detainee was returned to his fellow detainees, the
interrogator lost control of the environment. We limited this to 30 days and anything that
went beyond that had to get approved by higher.  Why 30 days? There is no book on
time duration of segregation and we thought that anything less than 30 days was humane
but anything passed 60 days was inhumane. A person trying 1o sclve a problem probably
needs more than one week but less than two months to fix a problem. So we decided one
month was probably safe an anything beyond that required CG approval. We felt this
was a reasonable time for an interrogation 1o last until it required the CG’s involvement
and approval. Another word we changcd was EPW 1o sccurity detainees. We made the
change because we realized that tbe number of EPWs were very sma]l and there was
- already a procedure for EPWs (FM 34-52). We were now had more security and civilian
detainces. Our problem was that there was no guidance out there on how to deal with
security and civilian detainees. We used the Fourth Geneva Convention because it
covered civilian detainees. The Interrogation and Counter Resistant Policy was being
staffed to the units and staff. MG FAST reviewed it for the intelligence community and
(WHO REVIEWED IT FOR THE UNITS AND OTHER STAFF ELEMENTS?). The
policy is still not perfect but I believe it is pretty good. A lot of hard work by a lot of
people went into writing the policy letters, The final policy approved by CENTCOM
was the 12 October 03 Policy. There was a reduction in the techniques listed in the
previous policy. We felt that our attorneys were not expert in telling the interrogators
how to do Interrogations. The only way we felt we could manage interrogations was to
enforce the Interrogation Plans and have the intelligence community conduct eversight of
them. We felt that those that would come to us would be exceptions to policy instead of
advocating to interrogators what techniques (o use and time limitations. It all had to be
focused on the panticular detainee they were interrogating. We empowered the
Intelligence community to focus on the interrogation plan. Each one would be specific
based on the detaince and when they wanted to go outside of the acceptable techniques,
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they would submit the request. We understood the combination of tqchniqus would be
used and the effect these techniques had on & detainee had to be monitored by the
leadership reviewing the interrogation plans. One of the problems | saw coming in as an
outsider, was the FRAGO system we had in place. The policies bad 10 get down 1o the
lowest level. We had other services and other countries and we had a problem with
distributing the FRAGOs to everyone. The CG always discussed the responsibility of
every one to treat detainces with dignity and respect. He would send this out on the
FRAGOs that went out. He would get very frustrated because he felt some were not
following his request. {I AM NOT SURE IF I CAPTURED THIS RIGHT). The reason
for classifying the docliments was because we did not want to compromise what we were
doing. The second draft (DATE) was never meant 10 be followed by anyone. It was
being staffed. Ido not recal] the staffing method for the drafls. The normal method was
Current Operations’ Lawyer would place the document in 8 folder. The staff would then
g0 to the folder and revicw it and make comments. The other way was to place a cover
sheet on it and send it out hard copy. 1might have seen two policics that were signed and
1 do not know why the CG signed it because it was going to CENTCOM for approval.
was not in on any meeting with LTG SANCHEZ. The only thing | remember is that

told me that the policy only gets implemented if it is approved by
CENTCOM. I do not know how the policics went out before they were approved by
CENTCOM. I would assume it was lcaked out. I was ot involved with the ICRC visit
or writing the response 1o their fmdingHu). 1 did sec one JCRC repant
in January and } sent it to I11-.Corps for their response. The JCRC report was based on a
lot of anecdote and it was hard to understand what was true and what wasn't. I never
heerd of LTG Sanchez giving any blanket use of techniques not evea for the night of the
shooting. | do remember him being very upset that we had soldiers going in afier a
detainee who had a gun and not having a preplanning to respond with the appropriate
amount of firepower. LTG SANCHEZ expected the leadership to get involve at every
level. 1do not recal! any approval authority delegated 1o COL PAPPAS. [t is up to the
commanders 1o ensure humane treatment is foliowed and to oversee the limits of what
techniques are being done. : ' :

Investigating Officer
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A, HQCO, MCCDC,
QUANTICO, VA 22134

[ arrived in Kuwait on the 3™ week of July 03 and immediately deployed into Baghdad,
Irag. My duties the firs ks were to serve as an opcrational lawyer on the CITE-
7 Staff. | worked for SA, CJTF-7 SJA. After three weeks,
the Chief of Operational Law USN) redeployed to Germany
and I assumed the duties of Chiel of Operational Law tor CITF-7. I remained in this
billet unti} SA, of III Corps assumed t jes ig January
04. 1 then moved from Camp V'clory to the CPA to work with t CJTE-
7 (fwd) on some issues we had worked on previously for the purpose of continuity, and 10
ease the transition to 111 Corps. | first began dealing with detention and interrogation
operations in lhe very beginning of my tour when we drafted FRAGOs giving CJTF-level
guidance 10 all units regarding detainees. It was the opinion of our office that all
detainees must be treated humancty in accordance with intemational law at all times and
specifically, the Geneva Conventions. We addressed all detention and interrogation
issues with this founding principle. LTG SANCHEZ, USA, Commanding General,

CJTF-7 repeatedly impressed upon his staff and subordinate commands both verbally and .

in writing, his desire for treatment of all Iragis with dignity and respect.
worked dircetly with the CG in developing these written orders and 1 participated in their
drafting. To my knowledge, the only pohcies approved by the CG with rcgard to
detainecs were the ones published by our office, specifically the CJTEF-7 Interrogation
and Counter-Resistance Policy and vanous “'Dignity and Respect” memos, which were
published by FRAGO. Though [ was no! present in any meeting with the CG wherein
interrogation techniques were discussed. ] never heard of him giving permission for use
of any particular technique. Such gindance would have been contrary to CJTF-7 policy
as we created it, and his commender’s intert, as I understood il.

' When MG MILLER, USA visited Iraq from Guantanamo Bay (GTMO) we
focused on preparing an interrogation policy. 1bchieve it was gencrally understood that

MG MILLER 2nd his staff had a great deal of experience from GTMO and had come to .

r operational level intellipence from detzinees through interrogation.

members of the GTMO team, myself, and others met to discuss the
creation of a standard CJTF-7 policy for use in irag. MG MILLER's staff sugpested that
we needed u theater-level policy, and though 1 did not initiatty agree with that idea, ]
came 1o believe that the policy was necessary to regulanze inierrogation practices across
the Irag Theater. | initially felt that the published references (infra) and intellipence
leadership would serve sufficiently to guide the process, and that lawyers could possibly
bring the unintended consequence of unnccessary restrictions to the interrogations. After
discussing the matter at length, however, we decided that the palicy was necessary Lo
regulate unit-level policies and ensure that policies across Iraq, including those 1n units
coming in from Afghanistan and other places comported with our bascline need 1o satisfy
the Geneva Conventions.

In preparing the policy drafts, we gathered all documentation we could iocate on

interrogation and counter-resistance, including FM 34-52, GTMO and CITF-180 policies,
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‘The Third and Fourth Geneva Conventions and associated commentanes, DOD
Directives, FM 27-10, and other regulations relating 1o EPWs and civilian internees.  We
also considered other international law even when not binding, c.g., the Geneva
Protocols. We Jooked at the manuals, various policies and other regulations with an eye
toward gaining consistency in inerrogation operations. It is important to note that while
we considered the policy in use at GTMOQ, and used the general format of their policy for
the purpose of organization of our own, we knew that we would be guided neither in
content nor legal analysis by the GTMO policy. We felt that our situation was
fundamentally different, and that as a force engaged in an international armed conflict,
the Geneva Conventions would prevent any such guidance. Instcad we attempted to
evaluate all available techniques and approaches we found in the various policies and
manuals, applying limits and safcguards to remain within the bounds of intemational faw
and to promole humane treaiment.

After gathering information, we began the process of constructing drafls of the’
policy for discussion and staffing. There are various drafts in existence that contain
changes 1o the policy as a result of our internal consultations, the staffing process and our
interaction with supported commands. The many differences in the drafts, including
whether 10 include EPWs or only Security Internees within the policy, are the result of
our discussions and input from units and staff members in the staffing process. To my
knowledge. these drafis were not issued to units for their use, though some units may
have received electronic copies for critique duning staffing. We also received some
limited guidance from CENTCOM after we submitted the first signed policy o thern that
we intended lo mplement,

In initia) drafis, we focused on inclusion, exclusion and limiting some individual
techmiques in an cffort to have the policy comport with intemational law. In later drafts,
(after review by CENTCOM SJA’s office) it became evident that we should rely more
heavity on FM 34-52 and focus on interTogation approaches as described in that manual
while implementing necessary safeguards designed to promote humane implementation
of the approaches. Given the fact that interrogation approaches described in the manual
could combine techniques, and those-technigues could have diffening effects on different
detainees based on implementation, duration, age and health of the detainee, etc,
supervision and intelligence leadership involvement in the creation of individual
mterrogation plans becamce a more important focus. Comprehensive individual
interrogation plans had Lo be supervised and approved at the unit level by intelligence
jcadership. In short, our aim was to allow the interTogator to use the approaches available
in the manuals, tailoring the technigues that best suited the detainee under interrogation --
under direct supervision of intelligence leadership --while remaining within the bounds of
the Jaw. We sclected the approaches in FM 34-52 because the manual had been
previously legally reviewed, and offered approaches which could be used on EPWs, the
category of detainee with the highest protections under the law. Any deviation from the
approaches in the policy had to be 2pproved by the CG. By our poiicy, this approval
" would have had to be stafTed through the CJTF-7 C2 and S1A prior to CG approval. We
vicwed segregation from fellow detanees not as a technique, but as a necessary part of
anv interrogation.  Understanding that while nccessary, scgregation could be viewed as
inhumane if lengthy, we instalied a 30 day safeguard in the policy, with the need for
CG's approval 1o continue segregation of any security internee past 30 days—whether
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consecutive or not. We felt this was a reasonable time for an interrogation under
segregation to continue with supervision below the level of the CG. After 30 days, we
felt that such segregation should require the CG’s involvement and approval.

-Questions have been raised as o the security classification of the policy. The
reason for classifying the interrogation documents as SECRET was that other
interrogation policies we viewed were classified SECRET, and I belicved that if the
information were leaked. il could severely undermine the interrogation efforts in the field.
This classification was selected oniy for reasons of national security, and in no way hid
the contents of the policy from CJTF-7 personnel who had the need to know it.

I recall two interrogation and counter-resistance policies being approved and
signed by the CG. The first was rescinded about 28 days after its submission to
CENTCOM and superseded by the later policy. We sent the first policy to CENTCOM
for review with the intent to implement the policy upon approval. I believe it was dated
14 September 2003. Lawyers at CENTCOM expressed reservation that some of the
technigues could violate the GC depending on the manner of implementation. After
reviewing the CENTCOM input, we changed our focus to the approach-based model
describec above. Our desire was (o salisfy the need for effective interrogations while
remaining within the bounds of international law and promoting humane treatment of

_detainees. After modifying the policy, we rescinded the original and reissued our final
policy dated, by my recollection, October 12 of 2003. I do not believe that the onginal
policy was ever officially issued, but since it had been signed, we thought it should be
rescinded as confusion could have resulted. As far as the staffing methods used for these
documents, 1 do not recall which staffing method was used for each particular draft.
Morcover. most of the drafts did not leave our office, as the changes were the result of
internal decision-making. The normal method for staffing drafis outside of the office was
thal the Current Uperations’ Lawyer would place the document in an electronic folder for
staffing to CJTF-7 staff and supported units through LNOs. The staff would then go to
the folder and review it and make changes and comments. Some documents, especially
sensitive ones, may have been staffed in “hard-copy"—placing 8 cover sheet on them and
forwarding to the units for staffing.

“The InterTogation Rules of Engagement (IROE) is a document that | havs learned
wag prepared byhUSA. This is a document that 1 do not recall seeing prior
to my interview with the commission. | think that I would have recalled the
document, because IRQE is a misnomer; 1t is not the correct use of terminology with
respect to detainees. The CITF-7 policy does not address “engagement” of detainees
during intcrtogalion, as they are protected persons. After seeing the slide, however, |

ciieve that it is a well-intended effort at producing a “layman's training aid” lha-
H‘reatcd for her troops 10 teagh them what wvas allowable under the CJTF-7
policy. 1did not normaliv work wit“n interrogation matiers. 1 worked
with . USA. a lawyer from 205" MT in the drafting of the CITF-7
policy and occasionally answered questions from the field through tam on interrogation
matters. In all cases, 1 advised him to advisc the intelligence / interrogation leadership to
use comprehensive interrogation plans and to formally request any deviations from policy

through the chain of command and the C2 and SJA as discussed above. The only
requests for deviation that I saw were requests 1o continue scgregation past 30 days.
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Though 1 was not involved in the legal administration of detention operations al
Abu Ghraib, ] remember reading one or two ICRC reports in the January 2003 timeframe.
The ICRC reports included allegations of mistreatment of Iragis both at the point of
detention and in internment. It was my understanding that these were unconfirmed
reports based solely on anecdotes obtained dircctly from interviews between the ICRC
and detainees. These reports appeared quite exaggerated and hyperbolic, citing lawful
" uses of force as vinlations, inctuding pointing weapons at persons during capture
operations, segregaling suspected insurgenls from their family members dunng

. questioning, or using force o prevent detainee escape. 1 arding an ICRC
reporl to the 111 Corps SJA {detention ops) for responsc.
(AUS) a Coalition attorney working in my section, drafted or edited a separale

response to an ICRC report on behalf of BG KARPINSKI's office. I edited that
response. | was not present during any ICRC visit to Abu Ghraib. 1 did, however, work
directly with the ICRC, coordinating access and handling all ICRC requests regarding
Saddam Hussein. | do remember that authority to command forces at Abu Ghraib was
shifted to COL PAPPAS in response 1o altacks al that facility, but 1 do not recall any
approva! authority being delegated to COL PAPPAS regarding interrogation approaches
or policy. Such delegation would have been contrary to the CJTF-7 Interrogation and
Counter-Resistance policy and my understanding of the CG's ntent with respect to
detainee treatment.

This stalement is being provided to the FAY commission in response to their questioning,
and for the purpose of their investigation. 1t 1s intended to replace the drafl statement
prepared by the commission on my behalf. which contained errors. 1 swear that the
contents of this staternent are true to the best of my knowledge and recollection.
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) FRIVACY ACT STATEMENT
AUTHORITY: Trthe t0 USC Saction 301; Tise §.USC Saciion 2251; E.D. 5387 dated Nevembar 22, 1843 (554
PRINCIPAL PURPDSE: To provida commandars snd law sutorcemant officisks with maany by which information may ba sccurataly identifisd.
RDUTINE USES: Your socisi security number is used a3 on wdditonsUaitumate means of identification 1o laciinte Rl and 1mineval.
DISCLOSURE: Disciosura of your Socisd secunty rumber (s voluntary.
| 2. DATE f¥YYYMMID) f’ W13, TIME a‘j "= | &, FiLE NUMBER
E;nﬂgo\’}lCTORY. BAGHDAD, IRAQ i 2004/05/09 oL '

7. GRADEISTATUS
08

5. LAST NAME FIRST NAME, MIDOLE NAME | & SSN

». ORGAMZATION OR ADDRESS
C2, CJTF-7, Camp Victory, Baghdad, Iraq

Rurbez: G Fast o83 " WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER QATH:

1 reporied 10 CJTF-7, Baghdad, Irag on 29 Jul 03. 1 was assigned as the C2 for CJTF-7. 1 was tasked by SecDef thru
CENTCOM to complete an assessment of the intelligence architecture in'Iraq and rgciﬁcgl!y address intelligence resources,
processes and prionties. [ spent the first part of the month with the newly arrived C3, visiting all the divisions and various
activities, with an eye on the intelligence system. In both my interim and final -assessments for SecDef, I highlighted my concerns
with detainee operations as a number one probiem and an area where we have the greatest challenge. At that ume. isterrogation
| operations were strung across the country, from Camp Bucca to Camp Cropper o Ashraf. It was about the time [ arrived when
Abu Ghraib was opened for interrogation business--bringing in detainces associated with a major CJTF-7 operation.  Apainst that
backdrop, | greally welcomed the visit of MG Geoff Miller and the GTMO team. Although GTMO is 8 very different effort (no
combai, no ongoing operation into which) it must fit in 4 timely manner, a singular effort vice a coberent full specram HUMINT
effort), ] believed we could map GTMO best practices into something that would work in Irag. There was much work to be
donc—~from organization to facilitics to rcporting and management. The CZ and the MI Bde immediately began 1 imploment the
recommendations from MG Miller's GTMO repont. In the C2 area specifically, this included standing up a robust C2X (which,
lacking even a competent OIC, 1 had already identified as my most critical fill) and an anslytic effort that capitalized on debric
reparts and focuses interrogations. COL Pappas also began to implement GTMO recommendations, to include an intzrnal
reorganization o establish Tiger Tearns, as weli as receiving GTMO teams augment his effort and provide additions! expertise
mentorship. Arrangements were made for 2 Huachuca MTT, which come in and conducted additional interrogation training. In
Sep. the CG published an interrogation policy letter which outlined proper and sutborized conduct for interrogation (updated in
Oct 03). All of these aforementioned iniuatives were implemented from mid-Sep to the end of Nov (being in part dependent on
resourcing). Meanwhile, the CG's goal was to close Carop Cropper (less the HVD facility) and consolidate all deiention operationf
“|into Abu Ghraib by 1 Oct 03, When the first detainees from Camp Cropper began to arrive at Abp Ghraib, interrogation

operations were conducied in tents. Up until that time, the Cdr, A Co, 515th MI BH.HS the senior officer on the

site. Soom, MI persoanel from the various MI units began to arrive at Abu Ghraib and operate. In terms of responsibility, the M
Brigade was responsible for interrogation and the MP Brigade was responsible for detention operations. COL Tom Pappas, 205
M! Bde Commander, initially operated from his beadquarters in Camp Anaconds, but found it necessary to relocate o0 Baghdad i

der o be closer 1g CITF-7 and key components of bis corrnand, such as in ation. [ am got familiar with tbe timing of

ignment to Abu Ghraib, That assignment was made byw deputy and the V Corps G2.
e did personnel assigi meats, due 1o the backbone of the unwelligence coming Sut of orps assets and the close working
retationship he had with the CJTF-7 C1, who was also the V Corps G1. The first time | recall meeti vas just after the
monrtar attack which killed and injured numerous Ml soldiers. 1t was just before this incident that COL Pappat began spending
more and more Ume at Abu Ghraib, often overnighting. After the mortar atiack, COL Pappas made a decision to move all
operations and billeung mio the hardened buildings 1o prevent injuries from future atta: prgéiously said these

buildings were off-limits to CJTF-7 use). During my visits, | was normally briefed b d n operations;|
howcvermu always 10 the wings and often discussed vanous operauonal and life support

witl mc (eg.
computery, Is}.” From an sustere, bare bones msuwllavon, inierrogation operations steadily improved. Facilities were
rehabiluated w0 allow for segregation of detainees. lnterrogation booths were built. Databases were built and software improved
to link detainees to interrogations and reporting. Unfortunately, there were different databases being used by M1 and MP's for
d2uainee/interrogation operations. The decision to begin using BATS was slow in being implemented (just now- being fielded to
'satisfaction). During my visits to Abu Ghraib, ] obscrved areas of concern—shortcomings in defensive preparstions, lax conduct
tamong MP's, and a general laxity in cleanliness standards. M] personnel were forced to conduct their own escort of detainees,
ipull guard duty--something COL Pappas ruised as an issue. | voi%m the DCG, MG Wodjakowtki, about the need

I for someone 10 be in charge of the eptire facility, as did the JAG, LTG Sanchez made the decision to zppoint COL

| Pappas as the Forward Opcramm:r al Abu Ghraib. 3 D was placed under his TACON. This decision

| was published in a FRAGO.
WOERHBT 11 INITIALS QF PER TEMENT P_
‘ m PAGE 1 0i PAGES

| ADDITIONAL PAGES MUST CONTAIN THE HEADING “STATEMENT OF TAKEN AT DATED

| THE BOTTUM OF EACK ADDITIONAL PAGE MUST BEAR THE INITIALS OF THE PERSON MAKING THE STATEMENT, AND PAGE NUMBER MUST BE BE INOICATED,

DA FORM 2823, DEC 1938 DA FOAM 2822, JIK 72, S OBSOLETE a0
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* | 5. STATEMENT /Cantimed’ ) ' )
Despite this being around the time of the detainee abuses (as founded in the Taguba 15-6}, the commmand leadership was not award

of this abhorrent behavior w the best of my knowledge(l simply can't speak for all others, but havio reason to believe that mheﬂ

staff and the MI Bde Cdr knew about it) and it therefore piayed po role in the timing of th COL Pappas uncovered
several disciplinary problems at Abu Ghraib, and to the best of my knowledge, he immedinl oroughly mvestigated and
look action on each one. These included soldiers having pets and local nationals living on and running » cafe. The relationship
between the MI Brigade and the MP Brigade was & frustraied one, with COL Pappas unhappy about the Jevel of ME support.
COL Pappas' rater was the DCG, ‘MG Wojdakowski, with LTG Sanchez as Senior Rater. BG Karpinaki's rater was L
McKiernan (I thought it was MG Wodjakowski until just this week) as 800th MP Bde was only TACON to CJTF-7 and LTG
Sanchez ~ My responsibility as the C2 was one of staff supervision for interrogation operations. The C3 was designated b LTG
Sanchez as the overall staff supervisor for detention operations, with the PMQ being responsible for detainee operations. It is my
belie that therc was a premise that most units would surrender during Phase II, resulting in there being few detainees. 1 just
don't believe that folks envisioned ever needing a robust detainee operation on & scale not secn since WWII, either durmg or after
hostilities. There are doctrinal and training lessons to be Jearned and which have been developed throughout OIF. With regard tg
the detainees abuse--1 never saw nor was [ made aware of (he alieged detainee abuse, the use of dogs during inlErTogatons by Ml
or MP's (if it occurred), nor was | eware of eny photos until the i.nv:sti?au'on was being initisted. [ do nat recall if it was just
before the investigation began (but after the notification to the CG) or if it was afier the investigation commenced when | actually
became knowledgeable do recall being absolutely sickened by the description, and later, by the pictures (I have pever seen the
CD). Clearly, had | been aware of this activity, I would have reported it, just as I immeduately actioned & reporied violation in th
December time, frame (repofted to me onc day, went 1o JAG the next day and we weat to CG—forwarded nitial report to
CENTCOM as they owned the unit). /TN I g e

I served as the President of the Appeal and Relcase Board from its inception in August 2003. The board consisted of three voting
members, the CITF-7 Staff Judge Advocate, the Commander, B00th MP Brigade, and me, There was also a Board Recorder,
Military Intelligence representative, CID representative and Provost Marshall(all aos-voting members) The voues are formulated
decision on cach case, which was decumented by the lcgal recorder. There was never a refusal on my part to approve the release
of such prisoners after a recommendation for release was made by the voard ST TN
Q. Do you bave anythung clse 1o add Lo this statement? A AT L R THLHELTHETH HE
A No.l!///!H////III/I/f!llIIIHHH///III!NIIIIIIHIIIIIIIIII!I/Il/liIll/!llHIHHIIIHIIHIIIIIIHIHIIIIIIIIIHIIIIIIIHIIIHHII!HMIHHIW 1

AFHIDAVIT

L Parnare Goocw E&;* :Sz 5 ; . HAYE READ DR HAYE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT
WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE 1. AND ERDS DN PAGE

£~ =% {FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE
BY ME. THE STATEMENT IS TRUE. | BAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAYE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE CONTAINING THE STATEMENT. | HAVE MADE THIS
STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE CF BENEFIT OR REWARD. WITHOUT THREAT OF PUNISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERCIDN, LINLAWFLUL INFLUENCE. OR UNLAWFUL INOLICEMENT

S

{Signature of Person Making Stetement)
WITNESSES . Subzcribed and 1wom 10 Mlere me, o peraon suthonzed by lew 0
s ter oaths. This 9 _ daynl May 2004

o _Camp Vicwory, Baghdad, Irag

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS (Signature of Farsan Adminisianing Oettd

{Tyoad Nams of Parson Administanng Dath)

UCMI. ARTICLE 136
. {Authority To Adminesiar Jaths)

) PAGE 2. ™ PAGES

PAGE 3, DA FORM 2823, DET 1958 LAAPA Y100
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